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Corporate Profile

MATRIX is a well-established manufacturer of plastic, die-cast and plush toys, with vertically integrated production 

process including mould making, manufacturing and design and a manufacturer of lighting products. Currently, the 

Group operates four plants in Vietnam. As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 2,310 staff 

in Hong Kong, the PRC, Vietnam, Australia, the United States of America, Canada, Mexico and Europe. The well-

established toy companies in designing, manufacturing and selling plastic toys – The Shelcore and the Funrise Group, 

and two overseas lighting companies were merged into the Group in 2005, 2007 and 2017 respectively.

Danang City, Vietnam 

First Plant

Danang City, Vietnam 

Third Plant

Danang City, Vietnam 

Second Plant

Vinh City, Vietnam 

Fourth Plant
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Financial Highlights

Financial Highlights and Key Ratios as of the Year Ended 31 December:

CONSOLIDATED

(HK$’000, expect where otherwise stated) 2023 2022 % Change

Revenue 714,486 986,094 -27.5

Gross profit 308,680 406,635 -24.1

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company (102,604) 6,228 -1,747.5

(Loss)/earnings per share – Basic HK(13.6) cents HK0.8 cent -1,800.0

Dividend per share

Interim, paid HK5.0 cents HK4.0 cents 25.0

Final, proposed – HK8.0 cents -100.0

Gross Profit Margin (%) 43.2 41.2 4.9

Net (loss)/profit Margin (%) (14.4) 0.6 -2,500.0

Gearing Ratio (%) 0.5 0.6 -16.7

Current Ratio 3.5 3.5 –

Quick Ratio 2.2 2.1 4.8
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DEFINITIONS

Gross Profit Margin (%) = Gross Profit
   x 100%

Revenue

Net Profit Margin (%) = Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
x 100%

Revenue

Gearing Ratio (%) = Total Debt
x 100%

Total Equity

Current Ratio = Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Quick Ratio = Current Assets excluding Inventories

Current Liabilities
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Chairman’s Statement

To Our Shareholders,

I am pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report of Matrix Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year of 2023, the Group’s consolidated revenue decreased by approximately HK$271,608,000 or 27.5% to 

approximately HK$714,486,000 from approximately HK$986,094,000 of last year. The loss attributable to the owners 

of the Company amounted to approximately HK$102,604,000, representing a decrease of 1,747.5% as compared with 

the last year’s profit in approximately HK$6,228,000.

The global economy was experiencing significant challenges in 2023 due to sluggish growth prospects, heightened 

inflation, and increased uncertainties. Various factors, such as the ongoing effects of the pandemic, the prolonged 

conflict in Ukraine, and rapidly changing macroeconomic conditions, were exerting pressure on the worldwide economic 

outlook. In response to high inflation rates in both developed and developing countries, there has been a notable rise 

in interest rates, marking one of the most aggressive cycles in decades, leading to a decline in consumer confidence. 

Furthermore, affected by the difficulties caused by the weak global economy, customer inventory levels are relatively 

high, causing customers to generally adopt a more cautious attitude towards inventory management and placing orders.

I would like to emphasize the significant importance of Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) factors for 

the sustainable growth of the Group. We are committed to operating as an environmentally conscious and socially 

responsible corporation. The Board of Directors and management have integrated ESG principles into the Group’s 

mission and implemented them into our daily operations. The details in relation to our performance in these aspects are 

set out in the ESG Report on page 35 to 48.

Lastly, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all of our stakeholders, including shareholders, customers, 

business partners and suppliers, for their continuous support and trust in all aspects of the Group’s activities. I would 

also like to express my gratitude to the management and all staff for their indispensable and enthusiastic contribution 

and commitment to the Group.

Cheng Yung Pun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

During the year of 2023 (the “year”), the Group’s consolidated revenue reported approximately HK$714,486,000, 

decreased by approximately HK$271,608,000 or 27.5% as compared to approximately HK$986,094,000 of 2022 (“last 

year”). The loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$102,604,000, representing a 

decrease of 1,747.5% as compared with the profit of approximately HK$6,228,000 last year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

During the year, the Company paid an interim dividend of HK2.0 cents (2022: HK4.0 cents) in cash per share to the 

shareholders. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board resolved on 3 May 2024 to declare and pay 

a second interim dividend of HK3 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The 

Directors have resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 

HK8.0 cents in cash per share). Together with the interim dividend paid of HK5.0 cents per share, the total dividend per 

share for the year is HK5.0 cents (2022: HK12.0 cents).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the year recorded approximately HK$714,486,000, decreased by approximately 27.5% from last year as 

high inflation and fears of lagging economic growth have deterred consumer spending.

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit for the year decreased by approximately 24.1% to approximately HK$308,680,000 due to 

decrease of sales.

Distribution and selling costs

Distribution and selling costs decreased by approximately 0.6% to approximately HK$194,134,000 for the year. The 

decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff salaries and carriage expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the year decreased by approximately 2.7% to approximately HK$149,866,000, which mainly 

consisted of office staff salaries, rent and rates of offices, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and other 

administrative expenses. The decrease was due to decrease in depreciation of property, plant and equipment as well as 

decrease in office staff salaries.

Finance costs and income tax

Finance costs of the year decreased by approximately 12.0% to approximately HK$3,801,000 as compared to 

last year due to decrease in the interest of lease liabilities. Income tax expense of this year recorded approximately 

HK$4,312,000 as compared to income tax expense of approximately HK$16,888,000 of last year due to decrease in 

current tax expense.

Research and development cost

Research and development (R&D) cost decreased by approximately 1.9% to approximately HK$20,237,000 for the year 

as less resources were allocated to conduct R&D for toys product during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Trade receivables of the year increased by approximately 34.7% to approximately HK$113,521,000 as compared to last 

year, mainly due to change in product mix with some products have longer credit period. Prepayment, deposit and other 

receivables decreased by approximately 1.0% to approximately HK$146,556,000, due to decrease in prepayment and 

deposit for raw materials, plant and machineries.

Trade payables, accruals and other payables

Trade payables of the year increased by approximately 4.2% to approximately HK$30,305,000 as compared to last 

year, mainly due to more purchase incurred near year end. Accruals and other payables decreased by approximately 

25.8% to approximately HK$71,105,000, due to decrease in accrued employee benefit expenses and other payables 

and accruals.

Quick Ratio

The quick ratio of the year was slightly higher than last year which resulted mainly from the decrease in inventories level.

Current Ratio

The current ratio of the year was similar to last year.

Financial position and cash flows review

The Group’s cash flow position remained healthy and the bank borrowings were maintained at a minimum level.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank and cash balances of approximately HK$181,202,000 (2022: 

HK$258,959,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group obtained banking facilities in a total of approximately 

HK$70,000,000 (2022: HK$70,000,000) which was supported by corporate guarantee.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately HK$4,234,000 (2022: HK$5,945,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, representing the total debt divided by total equity, decreased to 0.5% (2022: 0.6%) due to 

the decrease in bank borrowing during the year.

During the year, net cash generated from operating activities amounted to approximately HK$32,219,000 (2022: 

HK$229,171,000). The Group has maintained an adequate level of cash flows for its business operations and capital 

expenditures.

Capital Expenditure and Commitments

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a cost of approximately HK$18,046,000 (2022: 

HK$32,270,000) mainly to further enhance and upgrade the facilities. These capital expenditures were financed 

primarily by cash flow generated from operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$1,031,356,000 (2022: HK$1,263,221,000), 

total liabilities of approximately HK$180,126,000 (2022: HK$227,456,000) and equity attributable to owners of the 

Company of approximately HK$863,734,000 (2022: HK$1,047,414,000). The net assets of the Group decreased by 

approximately 17.8% to approximately HK$851,230,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$1,035,765,000).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT AND ACQUISITION

There was no significant investment and acquisition for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT DISPOSAL/IMPORTANT EVENT

There was no significant disposal/important corporate event for the year ended 31 December 2023.

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign 

currency risk. Certain bank balances, and trade and other receivables and prepayments, trade and other payable and 

accruals of the Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The economies of North America and Europe have faced difficulties in gaining momentum after the pandemic, primarily 

due to high inflation and significant interest rate increases aimed at addressing it. Furthermore, the prolonged war in 

Ukraine has heightened geopolitical uncertainty, leading to inflationary pressures. The unprecedented levels of inflation 

in both developed and developing nations have prompted a series of aggressive interest rate hikes, resulting in a decline 

in consumer confidence. Moreover, the decrease in sales can be attributed to high levels of inventory among customers, 

influenced by the challenges arising from the weakened global economy. Consequently, customers have adopted a 

more cautious approach to inventory management and order placement in 2023. In an effort to diversify its product 

offerings, the Group introduced products under a new licensed brand “TEENAGE MUTANT NINJA TURTLES”, while 

continuing to implement cost controls and automation. Despite the challenging operating environment, the Group has 

prudently managed its financial and cash position to overcome the challenging operating environment.

Manufacturing operations

The Group’s primary manufacturing base is located in Vietnam. By capitalizing on its prominent position in the industry 

and expansion strategy in Vietnam, the Group has restructured its plant processes and enhanced supply chain 

efficiency, leading to reduced production costs. In order to strengthen its competitiveness, the Group has increased its 

production capacity and quality through localized production and management operations, as well as advancements in 

automated production processes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segment performance

Rising utility bills and food costs have diminished consumer purchasing power, resulting in a slowdown in job creation 

and consumer spending on goods and services, as well as a decline in consumer and business confidence. With a 

focus on customers in the North America and Europe, the Group has worked to retain loyalty by improving products and 

inventory management to mitigate the negative impacts of the economic downturn. The Group remains committed to 

its established brand strategies and has actively launched new marketing campaigns for toy products under brands like 

“CAT”, “FART NINJAS”, “TEENAGE MUTANT NINJA TURTLES” and “Bright Fairy Friends”.

The US

The US was still a major export market for the Group’s products. Our revenue decreased by approximately 

HK$253,324,000 or 34.4% to approximately HK$483,592,000 for the year from approximately HK$736,916,000 for the 

last year.

The US economy has struggled to regain momentum following the pandemic, hamstrung by high inflation and rapid 

interest rate hikes to combat it. The Federal Reserve fought against inflation aggressively. High inflation eroded the 

purchasing power of consumers and hence affected sales in 2023.

The sales from Original Equipment Manufacturing and mass-market retailers for Original Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) 

toy car products under new brands decreased. Besides, the sales of lighting products and Original Brand Manufacturing 

(“OBM”) outdoor products of “Gazillion® Bubbles” also decrease. As a result, the revenue generated from the US 

market recorded a decrease.

The Group will endeavor to maintain its authorised licensing business with major brands and expand its range of 

products, while also maintaining relationships with current distributors and clients, including Walmart, Target and 

Amazon.

Canada

Our revenue in the Canadian market decreased by approximately HK$17,773,000 or 21.1% to approximately 

HK$66,298,000 for the year from approximately HK$84,071,000 last year.

The Canadian economy was constrained in 2023. High interest rates have put a damper on Canadians’ finances and 

caused a pullback in consumer spending and a slowdown in sales for business. The sales from toy car products such 

as “CAT” and “Rocket League”, OBM outdoor game products of “Gazillion® Bubbles” and girls’ toy series products 

decreased. On the other hand, the sales of toy car product “Mighty Fleet” increased. As a whole, the revenue generated 

from the Canadian market recorded a decrease.

The Group will focus on maintaining its existing distributors and clients, such as Walmart, Costco Canada and Canadian 

Tire Corporation.

Europe

Our revenue in Europe increased by approximately HK$6,587,000 or 8.1% to approximately HK$88,384,000 for the 

year from approximately HK$81,797,000 last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consumer spending held up well in 2023 despite elevated inflation and high interest rate. Additionally, increased 

government spending as well as higher exports and more private and residential investments also improved consumer 

sentiment.

Sales of toy car products, girl products “Bright Fairy Friends” and OBM outdoor products of Gazillion® Bubbles 

decreased. However, the sales of “TEENAGE MUTANT NINJA TURTLES” and “FART NINJAS” recorded increase. 

The Group recorded a decrease in orders from customers in France, Hungary, Ireland, Netherlands, Slovenia, Sweden 

and Switzerland. However, the orders from customers in Denmark, Italy, Croatia, Belgium, Germany, Czech Republic, 

Portugal, Greece, UK, Spain, Finland, Malta, Poland, Romania, Serbia and Lithuania increased. Overall, our revenue 

in the European market recorded a decrease. The Group will continue its efforts to maintain existing distributors and 

clients such as Costco.

Mexico

Our revenue in Mexico decreased by approximately HK$2,404,000 or 17.5% to approximately HK$11,349,000 for the 

year from approximately HK$13,753,000 last year.

Mexico’s economic momentum continued and recorded 3.2% increase in GDP. Due to decrease in sales “FART 

NINJAS” products, our total revenue in the Mexican market recorded a decrease.

Australia and New Zealand

Our revenue in the Australia and New Zealand markets decreased by approximately HK$921,000 or 2.3% to 

approximately HK$38,932,000 for the year from approximately HK$39,853,000 last year.

In 2023, the economy recovery of Australia was dampened by high inflation and elevated interest rate. Cost of living 

pressures have plagued the retail industry.  The monetary policy tightening cycle has also been playing a role in 

disinflation by taking some heat off the demand side.

The Group recorded a decrease in sales of girls’ toy series product “Bright Fairy Friends”, toy car products such as 

“CAT”, “Mighty Fleet” and “Rocket League” as well as OBM outdoor products of Gazillion® Bubbles. However, the sales 

of “TEENAGE MUTANT NINJA TURTLES” recorded increase. Our overall market revenue in Australia and New Zealand 

recorded a decrease. The Group will continue its efforts to maintain its existing distributors and clients such as Big W.

South America

Our revenue in South America markets increased by approximately HK$812,000 or 6.4% to approximately 

HK$13,414,000 for the year from HK$12,602,000 last year.

South America’s economies continued to maintain steady growth in 2023. The region’s economic growth is close to 2% 

in 2023. Overall, the Group recorded an increase in sales in Brazil, Colombia, Panama, Argentina, Ecuador, Uruguay 

and Bolivia; however, sales orders in Costa Rica, Chile, Honduras, Peru and Dominican Republic decreased. As a 

whole, our revenue in South American markets recorded an increase.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of approximately 2,310 (2022: 3,000) employees in Hong Kong, 

Macau, the PRC, Vietnam, Australia, the US, Canada, Mexico and Europe. The Group provides its employees with 

competitive remuneration packages commensurate with the level of pay established by the market trend in comparable 

businesses. A share option scheme was adopted by the Group for selected participants (including full-time employees) 

as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the business and operation of the Group. A mandatory provident fund 

scheme and respective local retirement benefit schemes are also in place.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group believes that maintaining a healthy and harmonious relationship with its stakeholders and fulfilling its 

social responsibilities to the community is essential for building and preserving the value of the Group. Adhering to 

the principle of Reducing, Recycling and Reusing, the Group encourages green office practices such as double-sided 

printing and copying, setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption 

by switching off lightings and electrical appliances, and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and 

practices in the operation of the Group’s business.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those 

that have significant impact on the Group. The Board and internal audit function team delegated by the Board monitor 

the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies are regularly 

reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees 

and relevant operation units from time to time. In accordance with the requirements of the laws, regulations and 

related policies in Hong Kong, the PRC, Vietnam and other relevant jurisdictions, the Company provides and maintains 

statutory benefits for its staff, including but not limited to mandatory provident fund, basic medical insurance and labour 

insurance. All employees are entitled to statutory holidays. The Group has registered its products, domain name and 

trademarks in Hong Kong, the PRC and other relevant jurisdictions and takes all appropriate actions to protect and 

enforce its intellectual property rights.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group acknowledges that employees, customers and business partners are crucial to its sustainable growth. The 

Group is hence committed to providing a friendly and caring working environment for its employees, providing excellent 

service to its customers and maintaining trust relationship with its business partners.

PROSPECT

The global economy outlook for 2024 appears to be cautiously optimistic, with signs of recovery from the challenges 

posed by the pandemic, high inflation and high interest rate environment. Economists project a gradual return to 

pre-pandemic growth rates, driven by increased consumer confidence and continued fiscal stimulus in many major 

economies. Furthermore, advancements in technology and digitalization are expected to play a pivotal role in shaping 

economic activities, fostering innovation, and accelerating productivity gains. However, the outlook is not without 

its uncertainties, as geopolitical tensions and inflationary pressures present ongoing risks to the economic recovery. 

Sustainable and inclusive growth strategies, along with proactive climate change mitigation measures, are also 

anticipated to feature prominently in shaping the global economic landscape. Overall, 2024 is poised to be a year 

of resilience and adaptation, where policymakers, businesses, and individuals strive to navigate the challenges and 

opportunities that lie ahead in the evolving global economy.
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Despite the global economic and geopolitical uncertainties, the Group will take an agile approach to enrich its product 

mix and enhance customer portfolio diversification. Besides, the Group will continue to prudently manage its financial 

and cash position, hence enhancing its resilience to adverse business operation environment. From the perspective of 

manufacturing, we will continue to enhance automation to improve efficiency and bring long-term and highest returns to 

shareholders.

For instance, the continued growth of the Southeast Asia market strengthens our confidence in the potential investment 

in the relevant areas. The Groups intends to seize this opportunity by making property investment in Vietnam.

From the perspective of manufacturing, we will continue to enhance automation to improve efficiency and strive for the 

long-term and highest returns to shareholders.

EXPLANATION OF THE QUALIFIED OPINION

In the course of our annual audit, our independent auditors have issued a qualified opinion on our financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023. We believe it is important to address this matter transparently and provide 

context for our shareholders and stakeholders.

(1) Details of the modifications and their actual or potential impact on the Company’s 

financial position

(i) The qualification was detailed in section “Independent Auditors’ Report”.

(ii) The Company is of the view that the qualified audit opinion will not have actual or potential adverse impact 

on the financial position of the Company, nor will it have any obstacle on the normal operation of the 

Company.

(2) Management’s position and basis on major judgmental areas (such as basis for 

impairment or valuation of assets), and how the management’s view is different 

from that of the auditors

(i) Business rationale

The Group has strategically shifted part of our focus to Vietnam’s booming property market where the 

Group’s established presence and management expertise offer significant advantages. To maximize the 

property investment project’s value for our upcoming potential projects in Vietnam, the horse-activity 

related iconic building and infrastructure, landscaped gardens and other amenities will be designed to 

make compelling marketing proposition and elevate the overall property value. The Company’s wholly 

owned incorporated subsidiary’s (“Subsidiary Y”) operation is focusing on cultivating a skilled team of 

horse trainers and other personnel to serve the future horse-activity platform in Vietnam (the “Vietnam 

Platform”).
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(ii) The Cooperation Agreement and the Undertaking

As an effort to prepare for the Vietnam Platform, the original plan was to import the racehorses to Vietnam 

through the Group’s Vietnamese subsidiary. However, due to COVID-19, the plan was postponed.

The Group’s reactivation of the importing racehorses from Australia to Vietnam in 2023 faced uncertainty 

due to the expired import license from the Vietnam government. At the same time, an Australian 

incorporated company (“Company B”) has acquired additional racehorses. Thus, in 2023, Company B, 

through an intermediary, entered into a Cooperation Agreement with Subsidiary Y whereby Subsidiary Y 

would provide horse training services to the racehorses provided by Company B through the intermediary 

and Subsidiary Y would select racehorses to participate in equine events so as to generate income from 

the horses (the “Cooperation Agreement”).

In effect, Subsidiary Y was given full usage of the racehorses without any acquisition costs. As such, the 

Board is of the view that the Cooperation Agreement constitutes financial assistance from a connected 

person to the Group with favorable commercial terms and is a fully exempted connected transaction 

under Listing Rule 14A.90.

Company B executed the Undertaking to provide assurance to Subsidiary Y that income generated by 

Company B’s horses that are managed by Subsidiary Y would belong to Subsidiary Y. This is to guarantee 

that Subsidiary Y would receive the financial benefits from the horses it managed.

(3) Audit Committee’s view towards the modifications, and whether the audit 

committee reviewed and agreed with the management’s position concerning major 

judgmental areas

The Audit Committee understood the modifications. The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the 

management’s position concerning major judgmental areas.

(4) The Company’s plan to address the modifications

We take this qualification seriously and are committed to resolving the underlying issues. To address the 

auditors’ concerns, we have initiated engagement with external experts to assist in addressing auditors’ concern, 

implemented enhanced documentation procedures for explaining business rationale and recommended a 

comprehensive review of our internal control. The Board has resolved to monitor business risks more closely and 

strengthen internal controls, including incorporating this business in the internal audit cycle in 2024. We are 

confident that the steps we are taking will resolve the issues leading to the qualified opinion.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Yung Pun

Aged 72, was appointed Chairman of the Company in September 2000 and also the Chairman of the nomination 

committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng is responsible for the overall corporate policies and development strategies 

and monitoring the overall management of the Group. Mr. Cheng has in-depth knowledge and extensive experience 

in business operations in Greater China. Mr. Cheng has more than 43 years’ extensive experience in plastic toys 

manufacturing, property development and investment. Mr. Cheng is also a director of Smart Forest Limited (Mr. Cheng’s 

wholly owned company) which owns share interest in the Company. He is the father of Mr. Cheng King Cheung, 

Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Cheng King Cheung

Aged 32, was appointed Executive Director of the Company in October 2013. Mr. Cheng holds a bachelor’s degree in 

Government from Franklin and Marshall College in Pennsylvania, USA. Mr. Cheng joined Funrise Group since 2010. He 

has about 14 years’ experience in sales and marketing of toys. He is currently a Chief Executive of Funrise Group. He is 

a son of Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, the Chairman of the Company.

Ms. Yip Hiu Har

Aged 44, was appointed Executive Director of the Company in April 2018 and appointed as Chief Executive Officer 

on 15 April 2021. She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Language with Business from The Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from University of London. Furthermore, she holds a Master of Corporate 

Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, further enhancing her expertise in leading and governing 

the Group with over 16 years’ experience in toy industry, Ms. Yip effectively overseas the procurement, marketing and 

shipping operation of the Group.

Ms. Shirley Marie Price

Aged 57, was appointed as Executive Director on 12 March 2024. She currently serves as the President and Chief 

Operating Officer of the US subsidiary of the Group, Funrise Inc. (“Funrise”) with extensive experience and influential 

network in the toy industry over 35 years. She started her toy industry career with Funrise in 1987, the same year 

Funrise was founded, and subsequently held several senior management positions in Funrise over the years. In addition 

to managing the operations for Funrise that goes through the entire creative process of designing and manufacturing 

toys, Ms. Price leads all strategic planning and business development initiatives, including licensing partnerships with 

major studios and brand owners.

Ms. Price has been very involved in charitable causes. For 10 years, she helped organise Funrise’s “Toy Run For Kids,” 

an annual toy drive that brought the largest single donation of toys to Children’s Hospital of Los Angeles. She was the 

founding co-chair of the Toy Industry Foundation’s Toy Bank Committee when it was created in 2004.

Ms. Price has been an active member of the Toy Industry Association and was elected to the Board of Directors in 

February 2010 and a member of the Executive Committee in May 2012. She served on the Executive Committee 

from 2012 to 2016. She is also a member of Women In Toys and received the Wonder Woman In Toys Award for 

Manufacturing in 2011.

Ms. Price obtained legal advice on 11 March 2024 in accordance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.09D and 

confirmed that she understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer. 
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam

Aged 74, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-

executive Director in September 2004. He also serves as the Chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration 

committee as well as a member of the nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Loke has over 47 years of working 

experience in accounting and auditing for private and public companies, financial consultancy and corporate 

management.

Dr. Loke holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Universiti Teknologi Malaysia and a Doctor of Business 

Administration degree from University of South Australia. He is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in 

England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance 

Institute. He is also a life member of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Heng Victor 

Ja Wei, an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company, is his nephew-in-law.

In addition to his directorship in the Company, Dr. Loke serves as an non-executive director of Veson Holdings Limited 

(formerly Known as SCUD Group Limited) (Stock Code: 1399). He also serves as an independent non-executive director 

of the following companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange: Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding 

Company Limited (Stock Code: 3626), Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2882), and 

Zhenro Properties Group Limited (Stock Code: 6158).

Dr. Loke was an independent non-executive director of the following companies whose shares are listed on the Stock 

Exchange: Zhong An Group Limited (Stock Code: 0672) from June 2009 to June 2021, Chiho Environmental Group 

Limited (formerly known as Chiho-Tiande Group Limited) (Stock Code: 0976) from June 2010 to December 2021, Crazy 

Sports Group Limited (formerly known as V1 Group Limited) (Stock Code: 0082) from May 2005 to May 2022, Times 

Universal Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Forebase International Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 2310) from 

April 2016 to September 2022, and TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017) from September 2018 to February 

2023, Tianjin Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0882) from December 2012 to June 2023, and China Silver 

Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as TC Orient Lighting Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 0515) from June 

2018 to November 2023.

On 4 December 2023, the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange issued an announcement in which, among others, 

certain members and former members of the board of Hong Kong Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2882) were 

censured, details of which in respect of Dr. Loke are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 7 December 2023.
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Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey

Aged 61, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director in May 2000 and is also a member of the audit committee, 

the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Mak holds a Bachelor of Science 

degree in business studies from Bradford University School of Management, United Kingdom and a Master of Business 

Administration degree from the University of Wales, United Kingdom. He is a Member of the Hong Kong Securities 

Institute; a Member of The Chartered Institute of Marketing and an Associate of The Chartered Governance Institute 

(formally “The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators”). Mr. Mak has over 33 years of experiences in the 

field of corporate finance.

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Aged 46, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee, the remuneration 

committee and the nomination committee of the Company in December 2012. He is a partner of Morison Heng, 

Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Heng holds a Master of Science degree of the Imperial College of Science, Technology 

and Medicine, the University of London. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is a nephew-in-law of Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke 

Hoi Lam, an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Heng serves as an Independent Non-Executive 

Director of Best Food Holding Company Limited (Stock Code: 1488), Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited (Stock 

Code: 0746), Veson Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1399) and TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017) and as the 

Company Secretary of China Life Insurance Company Limited (Stock Code: 2628), all being companies whose shares 

are listed on the Stock Exchange. He also serves as an Independent Non-Executive Director of Bacui Technologies 

International Ltd (stock code: YYB), a company listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chui Ka Hing

Aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee, the 

remuneration committee and the nomination committee with effect from 1 April 2023. Mr. Chui holds a Bachelor’s 

degree in Accounting from Queen’s University of Belfast and Master’s Degree in Business Administration (Executive) 

from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chui is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as well as a member of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Chui has more than 31 years of experience in banking, asset 

management, securities companies and financial holding companies. Mr. Chui also serves as an Independent Non-

executive Director of Sino Tactful Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 5481) which is listed on Taipei Exchange.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Matrix Holdings Limited (the “Company”) has adopted the Company’s corporate 

governance code (the “CG Code”) to reflect the requirements of Appendix C1 (the “HKEx Code”) of the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 

Continuous efforts are made to review, apply and enhance the Group’s procedures in light of changes in regulations 

and developments in best practices. Following sustained development of the Company, the Board and its executive 

management will continue to monitor the governance policies to ensure that such policies meet the general rules and 

standards. The Board is pleased to report compliance with the CG Code under the HKEx Code during the year ended 31 

December 2023.

A. DIRECTORS

1. The Board

The Board assumes responsibility for directing the Company and enhancing its value for shareholders in 

accordance with good corporate governance principles and has established relevant board committees to 

assist in discharging this responsibility.

The principal functions of the Board are to make decision on the strategic development of the Company; 

to oversee the management of the business and affairs of the Group; to supervise the management of 

the business and affairs with the objective of enhancing the Company and shareholders’ value with the 

proper delegation of the power to the management of the Company and its subsidiaries for its day-today 

management and operation of the Group’s businesses, implementation of the budgets and strategic 

plans and development of the organisation of the Company for implementing the Board’s decision; to 

oversee and evaluate the conduct of the Group’s businesses; to identify principal risks and ensure the 

implementation of appropriate measures and control systems; to review and approve important matters 

such as financial results and investments etc.; and to review the Company’s policies and practices on 

corporate governance.

As at 31 December 2023, at least one-third of the Company’s board are Independent Non-executive 

Directors (“INED”) of which the Board comprises three (3) executive directors, namely Mr. Cheng Yung 

Pun (Chairman), Mr. Cheng King Cheung and Ms. Yip Hiu Har and four (4) INEDs, namely Dr. Loke 

Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey, Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei and Mr. Chui Ka Hing, 

(collectively the “Directors”). The INEDs required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules who represent 

one third of the Board and include three with appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and 

related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

1. The Board (Continued)

In accordance with the Bye-laws, the CG Code of the Company, every Director should be subject to 

retirement by rotation at least once every three years. All Directors appointed as an additional Director or 

to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting 

after their appointment and that one-third of the Directors should be subject to retirement and re-election 

every year. Non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive) are not appointed for a 

specific term. they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of 

the Company pursuant to the retirement provision under the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Directors who are subject to retirement and re-election at the 2024 Annual General Meeting are set 

out on page 53 of this Annual Report. The independence of the INED has been assessed in accordance 

with the applicable Listing Rules as each of the INED has provided an annual written confirmation of 

independence pursuant to the Listing Rules 3.13.

The Company considers that the INEDs continue to be independent in compliance with those 

independence criteria under the said rule and are capable to effectively exercise independent judgment 

up to and as at the date of this report.

The Directors’ biographical details are listed in the section of “Biographies of Directors and Senior 

Management” in this Annual Report. Save as Mr. Cheng King Cheung is a son of Mr. Cheng Yung Pun 

and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei is a nephew-in-law of Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam, there is no financial, 

business, family or other material/relevant relationship between the Directors. The INEDs are expressly 

identified in all the Company’s publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate 

communications in which the names of Directors of the Company are disclosed. The Company considers 

that the Board has the necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as 

Directors in the best interest of the Company and that the current board size as adequate for its present 

operations.
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

2. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

The roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company are segregated and are not held by the same 

person and are governed by the Chairman Mandate and CEO Mandate (containing the minimum 

prescribed duties) and stated in the Company’s own CG Code. The primary responsibility of the Chairman is 

to ensure smooth and effective functioning of the Board. His responsibilities are, inter alia, the leadership 

and effective running of the Board, ensuring that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the 

Board in a timely and constructive manner and ensure that Directors receive adequate information, which 

must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner. The CEO is delegated with the authority and his 

principal responsibilities are, inter alia, running the Group’s business, and implementation of the Group’s 

strategy in achieving the overall commercial objectives. The CEO also help the Board to set the desired 

culture, act with integrity, lead by example, communicate between the Board and middle management. 

Currently, Mr. Cheng Yung Pun is the Chairman and Ms. Yip Hiu Har is the CEO of the Company.

3. Board Meetings and Access of Information

The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as required by business needs. 

The Bye-laws of the Company allow board meetings to be conducted by way of telephone or video 

conference. Members of the Board receive information before the meetings about developments in the 

Company’s business.

During the year under review, the Board held eleven (11 board meetings (including some meetings held 

by video or telephone conference) in which Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, Ms. Yip Hiu Har, Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke 

Hoi Lam, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei had attended all board meetings; 

Mr. Cheng King Cheung had attended six (6) board meetings; Mr. Tsang Chung Wa had attended six 

(6) board meetings; Mr. Tse Kam Wah had attended eight (8) board meetings; Mr. Chui Ka Hing had 

attended eight (8) board meetings. Mr. Chui Ka Hing appointed as an INED with effect from 1 April 2023; 

and Mr. Tse Kam Wah and Mr. Tsang Chung Wa resigned as an Executive Director of the Company with 

effect from 1 December 2023 and 6 December 2023 respectively.

In the said board meetings, sufficient fourteen-day notices for regular board meetings and notice in 

reasonable days for non-regular board meetings were given to all Directors. Board papers are circulated 

prior to board meetings in a timely manner in which sufficient information was supplied by the 

management to the Board to enable it to make informed decisions, which are made in the best interests 

of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary and upon reasonable 

request, independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, if any.
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A. DIRECTORS (Continued)

4. Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted and amended from time to time its code for securities transactions by directors 

of listed issuers as the code of conduct governing directors’ securities transactions in compliance with the 

recently amended Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

All Directors of the Company during the year, following specific enquiry by the Company, have confirmed 

that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Company’s own code and the amended 

Model Code throughout the year.

5. Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme

Pursuant to the HKEx Code, all Directors should participate the continuous professional development 

to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the board 

remains informed and relevant. The Company has introduced the development programme for Directors. 

Each of the Directors keeps abreast of his/her responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of its 

conduct, and business activities and development. All Directors are updated from time to time with 

development in the laws and regulations applicable to the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors of the Company namely, Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, 

Mr. Cheng King Cheung, Ms. Yip Hiu Har, Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey, 

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei and Mr. Chi Ka Hing as well as the former Directors namely, Mr. Tsang Chung 

Wa, Mr. Tse Kam Wah, received regular updates on the Group’s business, operations and corporate 

governance matters. Materials on new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group 

were provided to the Directors. They also attended regulatory update sessions on relevant topics. All 

Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective training record pursuant to the CG 

Code.
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B. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

1. Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The principal role and functions of RC include, inter alia, reviewing the Board on the remuneration policy 

and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management, the specific remuneration 

packages of all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights 

and compensation payment, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or 

appointment, as well as to make recommendation to the Board as described under Code E.1.2(c)(ii) of the 

HKEx Code. The RC consults the Chairman and/or CEO about their proposal relating to the remuneration 

of other executive Directors and has access to professional advice where necessary. No Directors and 

executives can determine his own remuneration. The overriding objective of the remuneration policy is to 

ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain, and motivate a high-calibre team which is essential to 

the success of the Company. Detailed terms of reference of the RC are accessible on the website of the 

Company and the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEx”).

Membership and attendance:

The RC comprises Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam as chairman, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey, Mr. Heng 

Victor Ja Wei and Mr. Chui Ka Hing. For the year ended 31 December 2023, all members except Mr. Chui 

Ka Hing of RC had attended the meeting. Mr. Chui Ka Hing was appointed as a member of RC with effect 

from 1 April 2023.

Work done during the year

• reviewed its remuneration policy for Directors and senior management; and

• reviewed the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management for the year 

2023.

2. Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group’s remuneration policy for executive Directors and senior management is linked to performance, 

service seniority and experience, which are reviewed from time to time to align with market/industry 

practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are provided in Note 

15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report.
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C. DIRECTORS’ NOMINATION

1. Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The NC shall report back to the Board in writing on their decisions or recommendations within a 

reasonable time after such decisions or recommendations are made, unless there is legal or regulatory 

restriction on the Committee to do so. Its role and functions shall be the review of the structure, 

size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience) of the board at least annually 

and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the board to complement the Company’s 

corporate strategy; identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and select or make 

recommendations to the board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assess the 

independence of INEDs; make recommendations to the board on the appointment or re-appointment 

of directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive. 

Where vacancies on the Board exist or an additional Director is considered necessary, the chairman of 

the NC will identify suitable candidates and propose the appointment of such candidates to the Board for 

consideration and the NC will take into account the qualification, in particular any qualification as required 

in the Listing Rules, ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics etc. of the candidates 

and approved if such appointment considered suitable. The NC also considers the existing human 

resources policy in recruitment of new senior staff, to certain circumstance, is applicable to nomination of 

a new Director. The overriding objective of the nomination policy is to ensure that the Company is able to 

nominate a right person to be director which is essential to the success of the Company. Detailed terms of 

reference of the NC are accessible on the website of the Company and the HKEx.

NC’s principal role is to review the Board’s size, structure and composition to ensure that the Board has 

and by reviewing the Board’s size, structure and composition, the Board will also consider a balance of 

ages, talents expertise, skills, experience, independent, knowledge and gender appropriate according to 

the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

Membership and attendance:

The NC comprises Mr. Cheng Yung Pun as chairman, Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam, Mr. Mak Shiu 

Chung, Godfrey, Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei and Mr. Chui Ka Hing. For the year ended 31 December 2023, 

all members except Mr. Chui Ka Hing of NC had attended the meeting. Mr. Chui Ka Hing was appointed as 

a member of NC with effect from 1 April 2023.
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C. DIRECTORS’ NOMINATION (Continued)

1. Nomination Committee (“NC”) (Continued)

Work done during the year

• identified suitable candidate and made recommendation to the board on the appointment of new 

director;

• reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, and is of the view that there is an 

appropriate and diverse mix of skills and experience;

• reviewed the independence of INEDs of the Company and confirmed that all INEDs are considered 

independent;

• reviewed the profile and performance of Directors who will stand for re-election at Annual General 

meeting and confirmed that all those Directors are suitable to stand for re-election;

• reviewed and assessed the composition of the Board; and

• reviewed the existing Nomination Policy on i) whether it can and how to identify potential directors 

and which the selection process should be transparent and fair. The Company is encouraged to 

select from a broad range of candidates who are outside the Board’s circle of contacts, and in 

accordance with the Company diversity policy; and ii) whether it sets out the procedure for the 

selection, appointment and reappointment of directors containing the selection criteria. This should 

include, but not limited to, considering the potential contributions a candidate can bring to the 

board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity or not.

2. Implementation of Board Diversity policy

The policy concerning diversity of the board includes a mechanism on how NC oversees the conduct 

of the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board. In reviewing and assessing the composition of 

the Board, the NC will consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including without limitation, those 

described above, in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, experience 

and background on the Board. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the NC will 

consider candidates on merit against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on 

the Board. In overseeing the conduct of the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board, the NC will 

consider the balance of ages, talents, skills, experience, independence, knowledge and gender on the 

Board and the diversity representation of the Board.
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C. DIRECTORS’ NOMINATION (Continued)

2. Implementation of Board Diversity policy (Continued)

The NC will discuss and agree annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board 

and recommended them to the Board for adoption. It will also review annually the progress on achieving 

those objectives. Such as, the Nomination Committee is encouraged to (a) be more transparency on the 

considerations for diversity, including gender, during the nomination process of directors if the Company 

is without a single woman on its board; (b) articulate the benefits of diversity, including gender diversity, 

and the importance of being able to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool 

of available talent; (c) express the Nomination Committee or the Company’s commitment to diversity at 

all levels, including gender, age, culture and educational background, or professional experience; (d) 

assess annually on each issuer’s diversity profile including gender balance of the directors and senior 

management and their direct reports, and its progress in achieving its diversity objectives; (e) ensure that 

recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the board downwards) are appropriately structured 

so that a diverse range of candidates are considered; and (f) state whether the Nomination Committee or 

the Company has identified and implemented programs that will assist in the development of a broader 

and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare 

them for senior management and board positions. At any given time, the Board may seek to improve one 

or more aspects of its diversity and measure progress accordingly.

During the year under review, the Board comprised six (6) male directors and one (1) female director. 

The minimum requirement set forth in Rule 13.92 is considered to be satisfied. Moreover, the Company 

has appointed an additional female executive director on 12 March 2024, increasing the proportion of 

women on the Board to 25%. Regarding the target and timeline of achieving further diversity at Board 

level, the Company will endeavor to maintain at least one (1) female director in the coming four (4) years. 

the Nomination Committee will continue to look for suitable female candidates to achieve further diversity.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to achieve gender diversity:

Board level:

• The Board will identify potential successors internally from Senior Management as well as 

middle management, having regard to the industry expertise, leadership skills, decision making 

capabilities, communication skills and professional qualification of the staff.

• The Board will also consider outside sources such as head hunter, referral, and The Hong Kong 

Institute of Directors.
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C. DIRECTORS’ NOMINATION (Continued)

2. Implementation of Board Diversity policy (Continued)

Senior Management level:

• The Board will identify potential successors internally from middle management such as 

department heads, having regard to the industry expertise, leadership, decision making 

capabilities, communication skills and professional qualification of the staff.

• The Board will also consider outside sources such as head hunter, referral, and open recruitment.

The total workforce of the Group comprised 13.5% males and 86.5% females as at 31 December 2023.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1. Audit Committee (“AC”)

The principal role and functions of the AC are, inter alia, to review the appointment of the external 

auditor on an annual basis including a review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fees; to ensure 

continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence of the Company’s auditors; to meet the 

external auditor to discuss issues and reservations (if any) arising from the interim review and final audit, 

and any matters the auditor suggests to discuss; to review the Group’s internal control system; to review 

the annual and interim report and quarterly result (if any) prior to approval by the Board in accordance 

with the accounting policies and practices and relevant accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the 

legal requirements; to serve as a focal point for communication between other Directors and the external 

auditor in respect of the duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external audit, 

and such other matters as the Board determines from time to time; to consider major findings of internal 

review and management’s response and ensure proper arrangement in place for the fair and independent 

review of such concerns and appropriate follow up action; to devise a framework for the type and 

authorisation of non-audit services provided by the external auditor.

Detailed terms of reference of the AC are accessible on the website of the Company and the HKEx.

Three AC members are qualified accountants. None of the AC members are members of the former or 

existing auditor of the Company.
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

1. Audit Committee (“AC”) (Continued)

Membership and attendance:

The AC comprises Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam as chairman, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey, Mr. Heng 

Victor Ja Wei and Mr. Chui Ka Hing. For the year ended 31 December 2023, all members except Mr. 

Chui Ka Hing had attended the two (2) meetings. Mr. Chui Ka Hing was appointed as a member of AC 

with effect from 1 April 2023. The chief financial officer is a normal attendee of the AC meetings. Where 

appropriate, representatives of the external auditors are invited to attend the AC meetings to present 

significant audit and accounting matters which they noted in the course of their audit.

Work done during the year

• carried out interim and final financial review;

• reviewed interim and annual reports before submission to the Board in accordance with the 

accounting policies and practices, relevant accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal 

requirements;

• reviewed the external auditor’s engagement letter; to discuss issues during the audits of external 

auditor. The external auditor and the senior executives are invited to attend the meeting for annual 

financial statements;

• reviewed the nature and scope of external audit and approved the external audit fee;

• reviewed the interim financial report, interim results announcement, the annual accounts and 

the annual results announcement in accordance with the accounting policies and practices and 

relevant accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements;

• reviewed continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence of the Company’s auditors;

• met the external auditor to discuss issues and reservations (if any) arising from the interim review 

and final audit, and any matters the auditor suggests to discuss;

• reviewed the Group’s internal control system;

• reviewed the Group’s whistleblowing policy;

• served as a focal point for communication between other Directors and the external auditor in 

respect of the duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external audit, and 

such other matters as the Board determines from time to time;
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

1. Audit Committee (“AC”) (Continued)

Work done during the year (Continued)

• considered major findings of internal review and management’s response and ensure proper 

arrangement in place for the fair and independent review of such concerns and appropriate follow 

up action; and

• devised a framework for the type and authorisation of non-audit services provided by the external 

auditor.

2. Financial Reporting

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed 

by the AC and audited by the external auditor, RSM Hong Kong. The Directors acknowledge their 

responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group and presenting a balanced, clear 

and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. They are not aware of any 

material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.

The Board approves the financial statements after taking into account specific accounting matters. 

The Board is satisfied that appropriate accounting policies have been used in preparing the financial 

statements, consistently applied and complied with the relevant accounting standards. Directors ensure 

the preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and 

applicable accounting standards and also ensure the publication of the financial statements of the Group 

in a timely manner.

The Listing Rules require listed companies to prepare annual financial statements which shall provide a 

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the companies and of the results of their operations and cash 

flows.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records of the Group. It has 

also acknowledged its responsibility for preparing the financial statements in a timely manner.

A statement of the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor’s 

Report on pages 57 to 62 of this annual report.
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

3. Internal Control

The directors are responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 

controls including material financial, operational and compliance controls, risk management functions and 

particularly the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget 

of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG 

performance and reporting.

The Audit Committee has, at a regularly scheduled meeting throughout the year, received a report from 

Group Internal Audit on the results of their activities during the preceding period and reported to the 

Board, including any significant matters pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls 

including, but not limited to any indications of failings or material weaknesses in those controls.

The Board and Audit Committee accordingly have conducted a review of its risk management and 

internal control systems on (a) whether the Company has an internal audit function; (b) how often the 

risk management and internal control systems are reviewed; and (c) a statement that a review of the 

effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems has been conducted and whether the 

Company considers them effective and adequate. They also reviewed the effectiveness of the system of 

internal control of the Group including the relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management procedures and has delegated to the management the implementation of such systems of 

internal controls.

Appropriate control procedures have been designed to ensure that assets are safeguarded against 

improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable 

financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and 

regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks (including ESG risks) that may impact on the Group’s 

performance are appropriately identified and managed. Such procedures are designed to manage, rather 

than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. These procedures can only provide 

reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material errors, losses and fraud.

Parties involved in internal control function:

Chief audit executive

The Group’s chief audit executive with relevant experience and qualification, serve the Board in the Group 

to overseeing the Group’s financial reporting procedure, internal controls and compliance with the related 

requirements under the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding, the Board considers the adequacy of resources, 

qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financing reporting function and 

their training programmes and budget.
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

3. Internal Control (Continued)

Parties involved in internal control function: (Continued)

Internal audit function team

The directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of the view that in light of the 

size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to set up an in-

house internal audit function team to perform internal audit functions for the Group. As the Group uses 

internal resources to comply with internal audit function, an in-house internal audit function team was set 

up in 2015. The Audit Committee has identified the main risks in the Group and that the internal audit 

function team designed an internal audit program and will emphasise on the review of the risks according 

to the Risk Management plan. Nevertheless, the directors will continue to review at least annually the 

need for an internal audit function.

The Internal Audit function team comprises two (2) members. It reviews and monitors dealings of the 

Group to ensure that all dealings with these entities are conducted on an arm’s-length basis.

The Internal Audit function team reviews significant aspects of risk management for the Group companies 

and makes recommendations to the Audit Committee and other committees (as the case may be) if 

necessary, including amongst other things, the appropriate mitigation. The Audit Committee of the 

Company has established and oversees a whistleblower policy and a set of comprehensive procedures 

whereby employees, customers, suppliers and other concerned parties have the right and the ability 

to report any actual or suspected occurrence of improper conduct involving the Company, and for 

such matters to be investigated and dealt with efficiently in an appropriate and transparent manner. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee has designated the team leader of internal audit function team 

to receive on his behalf any such reports, to oversee the conduct of subsequent investigations, and to 

provide information, including recommendations, arising from any investigation to him for consideration 

by the Audit Committee. The Company has adopted policies and procedures for assessing and, where 

prudent, improving the effectiveness of its internal controls and risk management functions to personally 

certify that such matters are appropriate and functioning effectively in the belief that this will enhance the 

corporate governance of the Company.

The Group’s internal audit function team provides independent assurance to the Board and executive 

management on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls for the Group. The team leader of 

internal audit function team reports directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee under adoption of 

a risk-and-control-based audit approach. The annual work plan of Group Internal Audit covers major 

activities and processes of the Group’s operations, businesses and service units. During 2023, the Group 

internal audit function team conducted selective reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit 

program. The Audit Committee and the Board were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a 

material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations and considered the internal 

control systems to be generally effective and adequate.
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

4. Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year under review, the fees paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, RSM Hong Kong, 

were approximately HK$2,639,000 for statutory audit services Rendered (including disbursement fees) 

rendered to the Group respectively. Remuneration paid to other auditors for audit and non-audit services 

rendered to overseas subsidiaries was approximately HK$2,286,000.

E. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties as required under the HKEx 

Code:

• to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements; and

• to review the Company’s compliance with the HKEx Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance 

Report.

During the year, the Board considered the following corporate governance matters:

• reviewed the corporate governance duties under the HKEx Code; and

• review the compliance with the HKEx Code.

F. COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lo Siu Ting (“Ms. Lo”) has been appointed as the Joint Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 

1 March 2021. Ms. Lo is a Director of Hongkong Managers and Secretaries Limited, a service firm providing 

professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed and private companies.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary on corporate governance and 

board practices and matters. Ms. Yip Hiu Har, Executive Director of the Company, has been designated as 

the primary contact person at the Company who would work and communicate with Ms. Lo on the Company’s 

corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.
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G. INVESTOR RELATIONS

1. Communication with investors

During the year under review, the Group has proactively enhanced its corporate transparency and 

communications with its shareholders and the potential investors through its mandatory interim and final 

reports. Through the timely distribution of press releases, the Group has also kept the public abreast of its 

latest developments.

The Company has conducted review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder 

Communication Policy annually, covering areas such as:

– whether corporate communication materials are provided to shareholders in a timely manner;

– whether electronic means or communication channels are provided to shareholders to facilitate 

them make enquiries; and

– whether directors and auditors are present in the general meetings to answer questions of 

shareholders.

The review included checking of the content, delivery channel and schedule of corporate communication 

materials as well as the attendance records of general meetings. The Shareholder Communication Policy 

was implemented effectively during the year under review.

2. Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

The AGM provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman as 

well as chairman of the Committees and their members is pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the 

re-election of individual Directors.

The circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual report includes relevant details of 

proposed resolutions, including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election. In order to 

comply with the Listing Rules and CG Code as well, the forthcoming AGM will be held with voting by way 

of a poll and that all shareholders will be given a notice not less than 21 days. The results of the poll in 

general meetings from time to time will be published on website of the Company and HKEx.

All directors except Mr. Cheng King Cheung, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey and Mr. Chui Ka Hing had 

attended the 2023 AGM of the Company held on 18 May 2023.
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G. INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

3. Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Shareholders’ Meetings, 

make enquiries and putting forward proposals at the Shareholders’ Meetings

i) the procedures for the way in which shareholders can convene an 

extraordinary general meeting:

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, a special general meeting shall be convened on the written 

requisitionist of any 2 or more members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition in 

aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date of 

the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such requisition must 

state the objects of the special general meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and 

deposited at the office. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of such 

requisition proceed duly to convene a special general meeting, the requisitionists themselves or 

any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene 

the special general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings 

may be convened by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a 

result of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the 

Company.

ii) Make Enquiries:

In accordance with the Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy, the Shareholders direct 

their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, 

Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (the 

“Branch Share Registrar”) or the Customer Service Hotline of the Branch Share Registrar at (852) 

2980-1333 from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday to Friday (excluding Hong Kong public holidays) 

or by email at matrix1005-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such 

information is publicly available. Shareholders shall make a request to the Branch’s Share Registrar 

for the designated email addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable them to 

make any query in respect of the Company.
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G. INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

3. Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Shareholders’ Meetings, 

make enquiries and putting forward proposals at the Shareholders’ Meetings 

(Continued)

iii) Put forward proposals:

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, notice in writing by any two (2) or more shareholders entitled 

to attend and vote at the meeting holding at the date of the deposit of the notice in aggregate not 

less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the Company (not being the person to be 

proposed) for which such notice is given of his intention to propose that person for election as a 

Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given 

to the Company at least seven (7) days before the date of the general meeting appointed for such 

election. The period for lodgment of the notice required under this Bye-Law shall commence no 

earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such 

election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

iv) Dividend Policy

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the Company’s shares 

on a per Share basis. Any dividend for a financial year shall be subject to shareholders’ approval. 

Under the Company Law and the Company Bye-Laws, all of the Company’s shareholders 

have equal rights to dividends and distributions. The declaration of dividends is subject to the 

discretion of the Board, which the Company expects will take into account one or more of the 

factors when considering the payment of dividends such as a) the Company’s financial results or 

financial performance; b) the Company’s shareholders’ interests or needs; c) general business 

conditions and strategies or business prospects; d) the Company’s immediate or anticipated 

capital requirements; e) contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to 

the Company’s shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company; f) statutory and 

regulatory restrictions; g) possible effects on the Company creditworthiness; h) the amount of 

distributable profits available at the relevant time; and i) any other factors the Board may deem 

relevant.

v) Constitutional Documents

At the 2023 AGM, a special resolution was passed regarding the proposed amendments of the 

Company’s Bye-Laws in line with the amendments made to the Listing Rules and applicable laws 

of Bermuda. The changes introduced by the proposed amendments of the Company’s Bye-Laws 

were set out in the circular of the Company dated 17 April 2023.
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1. SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

1.1 Report Compilation Basis

This Report is prepared with reference to Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting 

Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). This Report is based on four principles, 

namely materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency.

1.2 Scope of Reporting

The Group is engaged in toy manufacturing business for international brand customers and lighting 

products manufacturing distributed directly to consumers and through sub-distributors on wholesale 

basis. This Report covers the relevant policies and performance of the said manufacturing businesses of 

the Group.

1.3 Reporting Period

The information published in this ESG report covers the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 

2023.

1.4 Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality

The Group is committed to creating sustainable growth and long-term value for its stakeholders. We 

maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders to gather their views on what ESG issues matter most. 

We engage our key stakeholders including shareholders, employees, suppliers and investors on a regular 

basis across various platforms, such as meetings and corporate website to gauge their expectations and 

feedback on how we could address ESG matters in the best manner.

1.5 Environmental, Social and Governance Strategies

The directors and senior management monitor and respond to the latest environmental, social and 

governance issues and make relevant recommendations to enhance the Group’s environmental, social 

and governance performance and then report to the Board on major issues.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group’s manufacturing business activities do not create much impact on the environment and natural 

resources. Despite this, the Group endeavors to protect the environment by implementing various measures to 

minimize environmental adverse impacts arising from its operations and ensure sustainable development and 

operation of the Group.

Climate change and global warming are the most pressing environmental problems in the world. There are many 

environmental groups that have been actively working with companies to reduce pollution. In response, the 

Group has implemented measures to minimize greenhouse gas emissions and the generation of non-hazardous 

waste.

The Group has also strictly complied with the relevant laws and regulations for emissions, the relevant regulations 

include National Technical Regulation on Industrial Emission of Inorganic Substances and Dusts, National 

Technical Regulation on Noise and National Technical Regulation on Industrial Wastewater.

Carbon emissions from the consumption of energy are one of our major emission sources. During the Reporting 

Period, the Group has adopted effective measures for reducing carbon emissions, mainly by using energy 

efficient equipment such as injection molding with infrared nano heating barrels and hydraulic with servo motor 

and the use of 14W LED Light bulbs.

2.1 Emissions Policy and Compliance

The Group strives to achieve efficiency in the usage of energy, water and materials. We operate in a 

manner in compliance with relevant local environmental regulations, general practice of respective 

jurisdictions and international standards, with an aim to reduce the use of natural resources and protect 

the environment. The Group has implemented a number of measures in accordance with applicable 

international standards. These include greenhouse gas emission inspections, reduction, classification and 

recycling of waste, and consultations on energy conservation and carbon reduction in factories with high 

energy consumption levels.

Total floor area coverage of the Group’s various factories in Vietnam was 122,722.2 m2 (2022:

122,722.2 m2) and most of the Group’s emissions were produced by its factory operations in Vietnam. 

Major types of emissions from these production plants in the Reporting Period were unleaded diesel oil, 

electricity, water, paper, hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.1 Emissions Policy and Compliance (Continued)

2.1.1 Types of Emissions

Carbon footprint generated from the manufacturing plants is disclosed in this ESG Report. Carbon 

footprint is defined as the total amount of direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gas (GHG) 

expressed in terms of equivalent amount of carbon dioxide (CO
2
-eq) emission.

2.1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The total net GHG emission produced by the Group in the course of operation was 12,421.81 

tonnes (2022: 17,800.27 tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO
2
-eq). The GHG emissions 

generated from the daily electricity power consumption is the main source of the Group’s carbon 

footprint.

The following table highlights the carbon footprint in the Reporting Period:

2023 2022 2023 2022

Scope of Greenhouse 

Gas Emissions Emission Sources Emission Emission

Total 

Emission

Total 

Emission

(in tonnes

of CO
2
e)

(in tonnes

of CO
2
e)

(in 

percentage)

(in 

percentage)

Scope 1

Direct Emission Unleaded Diesel Oil 

consumed by 

generator, forklift, 

boiler

29.71 23.45 0.24% 0.13%

Scope 2

Indirect Emission Purchased Electricity 12,390.08 17,768.03 99.74% 99.82%

Scope 3

Other Indirect Emission Water Consumption 2.02 8.79 0.02% 0.05%

Total: 12,421.81 17,800.27 100% 100%
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.1 Emissions Policy and Compliance (Continued)

2.1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Continued)

The major contributor of the GHG emissions was Scope 2: Indirect Emission, which accounts for 

99.74% (2022: 99.82%) of the total emissions. A further GHG emission analysis is set forth below:

Unit 2023 2022

Total Greenhouse Gas Emitted (a) tCO
2
e 12,421.81 17,800.27

Total Floor Area Coverage (b) m2 122,722.2 122,722.2

Total production weight (kg) 10,324,648.96 6,357,596

Annual Emission Intensity (c) = (a)/(b) tCO
2
e/m2 0.1012 0.1450

Annual Greenhouse Gas emission Intensity 

(c) = (a)/(b) tCO
2
e/KG 0.0012 0.0280

Total Removal by installing of LED 

equipment (e) tCO
2
e 39.970 60.549

2.1.3 Emission Prevention

In 2023, there were 12,421.81 tonnes (2022: 17,800.27 tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent 

greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) generated from the Group’s 

operation. The annual emission intensity was 0.1012 tCO
2
e/m2 (2022: 0.1450 tCO

2
e/m2).

To minimize the impact of carbon footprints on the environment, the Group has implemented 

various energy-saving and energy efficiency measures, including i) installing high-performance 

electric equipment; ii) replacing all normal light bulbs with light-emitting diode (“LED”) 

energy-saving lighting gradually; iii) installing roof made of transparent materials to provide natural 

lighting; iv) switching off unnecessary lighting and electrical appliances when they are not in use; v) 

setting the photocopiers in energy saving mode when not in use; and vi) deploying window panes 

which provide natural ventilation for better indoor air quality as well as natural lighting to save 

energy. These measures contributed to a total amount of 39.970 tonnes (2022: 60.549 tonnes) 

reduction in emission of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.1 Emissions Policy and Compliance (Continued)

2.1.4 Non-hazardous waste, paper and hazardous waste

Non-Hazardous waste

Non-hazardous waste generated from the Group’s operation includes living wastes, plastic, 

packaging materials, carton paper and cloth, which are mainly related to factories’ operations as 

well as sales and marketing functions.

Hazardous waste

A total of 21,000 kg hazardous waste was collected during the Reporting Period (2022: 22,000 

kg).

2.1.5 Use of paper and packaging material

A total of 1.56 tonnes (2022: 1.5 tonnes) has been used in the daily office operations and 

advertising activities. Some marketing materials such as leaflets, catalogues and sales kits have 

been disposed through licensed recycling companies. During the Reporting Period, 243,241 

tonnes of packaging materials were disposed (2022: 267,012 tonnes). These packaging materials 

mainly include plastic bottles and carton papers like carton containers used for production and 

paper waste.

2.1.6 Waste reduction

To better manage the use of resources, the Group strives to adopt paper saving and waste 

reduction measures, such as default double-sided printing, reusing packaging boxes and 

stationeries like files folders and envelopes as well as recycling of waste paper, plastic and cloth.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.2 Use of Resources

2.2.1 Energy

Electricity

The electricity consumption by the Group was 18,829,903 kWh (2022: 27,003,081 kWh). 

The Group strives to save energy by installing energy-saving appliances such as LED lighting 

and switching to low energy consumption equipment. In addition, the Group participated in the 

Environmental Score-Card (“ESC”) program which was launched by the factories in compliance 

with local environmental regulations and in response to customers’ call pertaining to minimization 

of light nuisance and energy wastage.

2.2.2 Unleaded Diesel Oil

A total of 10,384 liters (2022: 8,403 liters) of unleaded diesel oil was consumed, leading to 29.71 

tonnes (2022: 23.45 tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent in the Reporting Period.

2.2.3 Water

Water consumption by the Group was 52,255 m3 (2022: 57,811 m3) and the corresponding water 

intensity was 0.431 m3/m2 (2022: 0.477 m3/m2). Same as last year, only the water consumption in 

relation to the operation factories and offices with total floor area coverage of 121,316.4 m2 (2022: 

121,316.4 m2) were included in this section as water usage of our offices in other regions has been 

embedded in the management fee and thus cannot be quantified separately.

Nevertheless, the Group actively promotes water-saving practices such as i) installing water meters 

to monitor water consumption; ii) providing periodic training to workers to enhance their awareness 

on water-saving in factories; and iii) encouraging employees to turn taps off tightly and prevent 

dripping of water.

2.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

To ensure prompt actions can be taken in response to possible incidents that may cause pollution to the 

environment, the Group has clearly defined the roles and responsibilities of each managerial post and 

formulated possible preventive and remedial measures to protect the local ecological environment and 

avoid the occurrence of environmental pollution and ecological damage on the affected sites as stipulated 

in COC and ESC. An emergency plan is formulated to cope with possible incidents of pollution. During the 

Reporting Period, the Group did not find any activities with significant impacts on the environment and 

natural resources.
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

3.1 Employment Policy and Compliance

The Group recognizes that human resources are a valuable asset and understands that its service 

quality and competitiveness are highly dependent on the contribution of its employees. Therefore, it 

offers competitive remuneration, promotional opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract 

and retains talent. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a workforce of about 2,310 staff in globally 

including Hong Kong, the PRC, and Vietnam etc., of which about 2,310 were full-time factory workers.

During the Reporting Period, the employment distribution and annual turnover rate are as follows:

3.1.1 Total workforce by age group

Employee’s Age Distribution

Age 18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55

56 and 

above

2023

Number of employees 109 505 920 769 7

2022

Number of employees 208 821 1,253 984 9

3.1.2 Annual Turnover Rate

Annual Turnover Rate

Age 18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55

56 and

above

2023

Percentage of turnover 21.12% 29.27% 28.15% 21.19% 0.25%

2022

Percentage of turnover 32.50% 35.78% 20.11% 11.30% 0.31%

Salaries are reviewed and adjusted based on performance appraisals and the market trend.
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.1 Employment Policy and Compliance (Continued)

Employees in the Group are entitled to year-end bonus, mandatory provident fund, medical insurance, 

various types of paid leave in addition to the statutory benefits such as annual leave, sick leave and 

maternity leave.

The Group’s mission, policies, procedures, promotion mechanism, compensation and benefits, 

occupational health and safety, and complaint handling are set out in the factory employee handbook 

which is subject to regular review to ensure compliance with latest labour laws and regulations.

3.2 Health and Safety Policy and Compliance

Due to the industrial business nature, recruitment and retention of capable staff has continued to be 

a challenge in the Reporting Period. The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working 

environment for factory employees. The Group also advocates equal opportunity in employment practices. 

Employees are treated fairly in terms of compensation, promotion opportunity and training regardless of 

their age, gender and ethnical backgrounds. Despite that aging population is a common and long-term 

demographic trend in the countries where the Group operates, the Group will be able maintain a stable 

workforce to ensure sustainable growth.

The Group regularly reviews the health and safety procedures of its factories to safeguard factory 

employees’ well-being. Briefings, trainings, news and tips are provided to factory employees from time to 

time to strengthen their awareness and to refresh their knowledge and skills on using plant equipment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with health and safety laws 

and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to the provision of a safe working 

environment and the protection of employees from occupational hazard.
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 Health and Safety Policy and Compliance (Continued)

3.2.1 Occupational Health and Safety Data

The occupational health and safety data is as below:

Occupational Health and Safety Data

2023 2022

Work related fatality 0 0

Work injury cases >3 days 2 3

Work injury cases <3 days 0 0

2023 2022

Lost days due to work injury 45 40

Total Labour working days 702,240 995,600

3.2.2 Safety Measures

Safety precautions alert are communicated to factory employees from time to time through briefings 

and guidelines to promote and enhance safety awareness and practices. The management will 

continue to make effort in strengthening the Group’s occupational health and safety standard.

3.3 Development and Training

A comprehensive range of professional training is provided by the Group to factory workers. All newly 

hired factory workers are required to participate in a mandatory orientation session. These sessions are 

designed to help workers familiarize themselves with the Group’s vision, aspirations, missions, core values, 

business goals, as well as to learn about product manufacturing and equipment handling procedures. In 

addition, regular supplementary courses are provided for employees who wish to refresh their knowledge. 

The Group also hosts management workshops for eligible employees.

Total number of training hours in the Reporting Period is as follows:

2023 2022

Total Number of Factory employee 2,310 3,275

Total Training Hours

4 hours/

employee

4 hours/

employee
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.3 Development and Training (Continued)

The Group actively engages and motivates factory employees through various communication channels. 

Latest corporate news, activities and staff promotion announcements are communicated to factory 

employees through regular newsletters. The Group also organised various team-building activities such 

as annual dinner and festival-related celebration to enhance two-way communication between senior 

management and general staff. The Group believes that having a transparent governance system and 

continuous investing in human resources are essential to the success of a sustainable business.

3.4 Labour Standard

3.4.1 Child and forced labour

All employments within the Group are voluntary and any child or forced labour is specifically 

forbidden. In the Reporting Period, the Group operated in compliance with applicable labour 

laws, including those of Vietnam. A comprehensive screening process is in place pursuant to the 

guidelines set forth by the Group’s Human Resources Department. Every job applicant is required 

to complete a questionnaire and provide the stipulated information which will be checked and 

verified by the Human Resource Department. This also allows the Group to hire suitable candidate 

in accordance with the job requirements while meet the candidates’ expectations.

3.5 Supply Chain Management

A strict tendering process is implemented to ensure a fair and transparent mechanism is in place for 

procurement of all equipment, products and services. Relevant departments are responsible for preparing 

tender requests which are subject to the Group’s quality assurance policy management program and the 

tender requests should be included in the annual budgeting process. Supporting documents such as 

testing reports shall be provided to evaluate the suppliers’ performance so that the best suitable vendor 

can be selected. The Group also monitors the overall performance of selected suppliers by conducting 

audits and obtaining appropriate documentary proof to support and justify the appointment and on-going 

cooperation.

3.5.1 Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region

The Group has around 500 service and product suppliers in Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam.

3.5.2 Suppliers’ Engagement

The Group maintains good relationship with its suppliers to ensure service stability and product 

quality. Suppliers are assessed and selected based on objective and clear criteria including 

production process, quality management system, regulatory compliance, operating capacity, 

availability of sample for testing, packaging, procedures, price and delivery pledge to ensure the 

best value for money services or products are procured.
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.6 Product Responsibility

To provide high quality products to customers, the Group carefully sourced its products and equipment in 

accordance with its standardised procurement procedures and policies. A comprehensive procurement 

management system is implemented by the Group to screen out undesirable products when sourcing raw 

materials, ingredients and quality management system in factories, etc.

3.6.1 Products and Service Related Complaints

The Group has always been keen to maintain its good brand quality. During the Reporting Period, 

there was no significant complaint in relation to product quality and delivery.

3.6.2 Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group owned and registered a number of patents, trademarks and domain names which 

are important to its brands and corporate image. The Group has complied with all applicable 

regulations in relation to intellectual property (“IP”) rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group 

did not aware any material infringement of IP rights. The Group is confident that all reasonable 

measures have been taken to prevent any infringement of its IP rights and at the same time avoid 

infringing the IP rights of other parties.

3.6.3 Quality Assurance Process

The Group devotes to provide customers with innovative and high-quality products and at the same 

time place great emphasis on quality compliance. Considerable efforts are made to strengthen 

product quality and new equipment is procured to enhance its competitiveness.

3.6.4 Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (“PDPO”) and sets out the 

guidelines in relation to personal data protection in the Group’s Code of Conduct. Procedures are in 

place to ensure that all personal data collected from employees, customers and suppliers are kept 

confidential. Password is required for access to computers and servers to ensure that confidential 

information is protected from unauthorized access. All employees are reminded to strictly adhere 

to the guidelines set out in the Group’s Code of Conduct to ensure personal data is collected, used, 

maintained, managed, stored and handled properly in compliance with the PDPO and relevant 

regulations.
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3. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.7 Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the core values of honesty, integrity and fairness in the daily 

operation. All directors and employees are required to strictly follow the Group’s Code of Conduct to 

prevent potential bribery, extortion and fraud.

3.7.1 Preventive Measures

The Group encourages whistleblowing whereby any employee or third parties could report any 

concern about suspected misconduct, malpractice or irregularity, and conflict of interest in strict 

confidence.

The Group has reinforced these messages as codified in the Group’s Code of Conduct to 

employees to ensure they understand the requirements. There was no related legal case concluded 

against the Group during the Reporting Period.

3.8 Community Investment

The Group is committed to fostering harmonious relationships with the communities where it operates. 

The Group also recognizes that community participation is important for its long-term development. 

During the Reporting Period, the Group worked closely with various stakeholders to promote trade union 

development.

4. THE FUTURE DIRECTION OF THE GROUP

The Group will continue to actively source energy-saving appliances, equipment and materials by carefully 

selecting and reviewing suppliers and scrutinize the product origins. In addition, more training will be provided to 

employees to strengthen their awareness of the possible impacts brought about by the Group’s business on the 

environment and society. The Group will also review its resource consumption to look for improvement areas and 

achieve sustainable development which in turn will enhance its capability to attract talents in future.
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5. REPORTING FRAMEWORK

Key Performance Index (the “KPI”) Reference Table is presented below:

KPI of the ESG Guide

Corresponding 

headings in this 

ESG report

A Environmental Performance 2.

A1 Emissions Policy and Compliance 2.1.

A1.1 Types of Emissions 2.1.1.

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2.1.2.

A1.3 Hazardous Waste 2.1.4.

A1.4 Non-Hazardous Waste 2.1.4.

A1.5 Emission Mitigation 2.1.3.

A1.6 Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes Reduction 2.1.6.

A2 Use of Resources 2.2.

A2.1 Energy Consumption 2.2.1.

A2.2 Water Consumption 2.2.3.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency 2.2.1.

A2.4 Water Use Efficiency 2.2.3.

A2.5 Total Packaging Material Used for Finished Products 2.1.5.

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources 2.3.

A3.1 Impacts of Activities on the Environment and Natural Resources 2.3.
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KPI of the ESG Guide

Corresponding 

headings in this 

ESG report

B Social Performance 3.

B1 Employment Policy and Compliance 3.1.

B1.1 Total Workforce 3.1.1.

B1.2 Employee Turnover Rate 3.1.2.

B2 Health and Safety Policies and Compliance 3.2.

B2.1 Number and Rate of Work-related Fatalities 3.2.1.

B2.2 Lost Days Due to Work Injury 3.2.1.

B2.3 Occupational Health and Safety Measures 3.2.2.

B3 Development and Training Policies 3.3.

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained 3.3.

B3.2 Average Training Hours 3.3.

B4 Labour Standards 3.4.

B4.1 Avoid Child and Forced Labour 3.4.1.

B4.2 Steps Taken to Eliminate Child and Forced Labour 3.4.1.

B5 Supply Chain Management 3.5.

B5.1 Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region 3.5.1.

B5.2 Suppliers Engagement 3.5.2.

B6 Product Responsibility 3.6.

B6.1 Product Recall or Return 3.6.

B6.2 Products and Service Related Complaints 3.6.1.

B6.3 Protecting Intellectual Property Rights 3.6.2.

B6.4 Quality Assurance Process 3.6.3.

B6.5 Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policies 3.6.4.

B7 Anti-corruption Policies and Compliance 3.7.

B7.1 Number of Concluded Legal Cases Regarding Corrupt Practices 3.7.1.

B7.2 Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures 3.7.1.

B8 Community Investment 3.8.

B8.1 Focus Areas of Contribution 3.8.

B8.2 Resources Contributed 3.8.

5. REPORTING FRAMEWORK (Continued)

Key Performance Index (the “KPI”) Reference Table is presented below: (Continued)
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their annual report together with the audited consolidated 

financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are manufacturing and trading of toys and lighting products. The activities 

of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s 

performance for the year by operating segment is set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group together accounted for approximately 61.9% of the Group’s turnover, with 

the largest customer accounted for approximately 35.5%. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five 

largest suppliers were approximately 33.2% of total purchases of the Group, with the largest supplier accounted for 

approximately 8.3%.

At no time during the year did any Director, any associate of a Director, or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of 

the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have any beneficial interests in these customers or 

suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income on page 63.

During the year, the Company has paid 2022 final dividend of HK8.0 cents per share and the Directors have declared 

2023 interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share. Both 2022 final dividend and 2023 interim dividend were paid by 

cash. The total cash dividend paid during the year was approximately HK$75,620,000.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board resolved on 3 May 2024 to declare and pay a second interim 

dividend of HK3 cents per share amounting to approximately HK$22,686,000.

The Directors now did not recommend the payment of a final dividend. The remaining distribution reserves in the 

Company amounted to approximately HK$358,404,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the Company’s shares on a per Share basis. 

Any dividend for a financial year shall be subject to shareholders’ approval. Under the Company Law and the Company 

Bye-Laws, all of the Company’s shareholders have equal rights to dividends and distributions. The declaration of 

dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board, which the Company expects will take into account one or more of the 

factors when considering the payment of dividends as stated in the Corporate Governance Report in this report.
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SHARE ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed shares of 

the Company.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

Distribution reserves of the Company at 31 December 2023, calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 

amended), amounted to approximately HK$381,090,000 (2022: HK$460,246,000).

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share capital 

issued by the Company and the book value of the underlying consolidated net tangible assets of subsidiaries acquired as 

a result of a group reorganisation.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company is available 

for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed 

surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share 

capital and share premium accounts.

DEBENTURES/EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No debentures or equity linked agreements were issued during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against such 

rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 

shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

business of the Company were entered into or existed.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 

140.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Cheng Yung Pun (Chairman)

Cheng King Cheung

Yip Hiu Har

Shirley Marie Price (appointment effective 12 March 2024)

Tse Kam Wah (resignation effective 1 December 2023)

Tsang Chung Wa (resignation effective 6 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam

Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey

Heng Victor Ja Wei

Chui Ka Hing (appointment effective 1 April 2023)

OTHER INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

In the last three years, Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam (“Dr. Loke”), INED of the Company, was a non-executive director 

of Veson Holdings Limited (formerly Known as SCUD Group Limited) (Stock Code: 1399). He was also an INED of 

the following companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange: Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding 

Company Limited (Stock Code: 3626), Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2882), and 

Zhenro Properties Group Limited (Stock Code: 6158).

Dr. Loke resigned as INED of the following companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange: Zhong An 

Group Limited (Stock Code: 0672) from June 2009 to June 2021, Chiho Environmental Group Limited (formerly 

known as Chiho-Tiande Group Limited) (Stock Code: 0976) from June 2010 to December 2021, Crazy Sports Group 

Limited (formerly known as V1 Group Limited) (Stock Code: 0082) from May 2005 to May 2022, Times Universal 

Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Forebase International Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 2310) from April 

2016 to September 2022, TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017) from August 2018 to February 2023, Tianjin 

Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0882) from December 2012 to June 2023 and China Silver Technology 

Holdings Limited (formerly known as TC Orient Lighting Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 0515) from June 2018 to 

November 2023.

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (“Mr. Heng”), INED of the Company, resigned as INED of CIMC-TianDa Holdings Company 

Limited (Stock Code: 0445) on 1 February 2021, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Heng 

was appointed as an INED of TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017) with effect from 8 February 2023.
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OTHER INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, there is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to the Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing 

Rules.

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine Directors are as follows:

Name Fees Salary

Employer’s 

contribution to 

a retirement 

benefit 

scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors

Cheng Yung Pun – 1,119 – 1,119

Cheng King Cheung – 2,413 137 2,550

Yip Hiu Har (note 1) – 3,250 18 3,268

Tse Kam Wah (note 2) – 1,423 – 1,423

Tsang Chung Wa (note 3) – 1,015 17 1,032

Independent Non-executive Directors

Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam 110 – – 110

Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey 110 – – 110

Heng Ja Wei, Victor 110 – – 110

Chui Ka Hing (note 4) 83 – – 83

413 9,220 172 9,805

Note 1: Ms. Yip Hiu Har is also the chief executive.

Note 2: Resigned with effect from 1 December 2023.

Note 3: Resigned with effect from 6 December 2023.

Note 4: Appointed with effect from 1 April 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

In accordance with clause 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Ms. Yip Hiu Har, Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey, and 

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei who have been longest in office since their last elections and will retire by rotation at the AGM. 

In accordance with clause 91 of the Bye-Laws of the Company. Ms. Shirley Marie Price will retire at the AGM.

The retiring directors have indicated that they will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM and they are eligible to 

do so. Separate resolution will be proposed at 2024 annual general meeting for the re-election of Mr. Mak Shiu Chung, 

Godfrey and Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei, being INEDs for more than 9 years.

The term of office of each Director is the period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-

Laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 

which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 

compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, the annual confirmation of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. The Company considers all of the 

independent non-executive Directors independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN 

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN 

RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Details of related party transactions during the year are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s 

business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a 

director of the Company and directors’ connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors have any interests in competing business to the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN 

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR 

ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED 

CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives and their respective 

associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within 

the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) as recorded in the register maintained by the 

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listing Companies were as 

follows:

(a) Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Name of Director/

chief executive officer

Personal 

Interests

Family 

Interests

Corporate 

Interests

Other 

Interests Total

% of the

 issued share 

capital of the 

Company

(Note)

Cheng Yung Pun (Director) Long position – – 538,573,569 – 538,573,569 71.22%

Cheng King Cheung (Director) Long position 12,112,000 – – – 12,112,000 1.60%

Yip Hiu Har (Director and Chief 

Executive Officer)

Long position 200,000 – – – 200,000 0.03%

Note:

The shares are held by Smart Forest Limited (“Smart Forest”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The entire issued 

share capital of Smart Forest is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Yung Pun.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short Positions in Shares, 

Underlying shares and Debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated 

corporation”, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow 

subsidiaries, was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company and their associates to acquire 

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 

of the SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests and short positions in 

the issued share capital of the Company:

(a) Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Name of the shareholder Capacity

Number of

issued ordinary shares held

Percentage of the

issued share capital of

the Company

Smart Forest (Note 1) Beneficial owner 538,573,569 71.22%

Note:

(1) Smart Forest, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, director of 

the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short 

positions in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration 

of the directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual 

performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has adopted the corporate governance code (the “CG Code”) and amended it from time to time, which is 

based on the principles set out in Appendix C1 (the “HKEx Code”) to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

None of the directors of the Company is aware of information that would reasonably indicate the Company is not or was 

not for any part of the year under review, in compliance with the HKEx Code and CG Code.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is 

confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable 

date prior to the issue of the annual report.

OTHER REQUIRED DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING 

RULES

The Company has received two revised facility letters with the same facility amount of the old facility, that is, in 

an aggregate not exceeding HK$70,000,000, provided to three indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries effective on 18 

September 2020 (the “revised facilities” which are subject to annual review). All these two revised facility letters’ terms 

and conditions included, inter alia, a condition to the effect that Mr. Cheng Yung Pun (a controlling shareholder of the 

Company) should maintain not less than 51% of shareholding (whether directly or indirectly) of the Company. A breach 

of the above condition will constitute an event of default under the revised facilities. The Bank will discuss for remedy 

actions including obtaining waiver for the breach or seeking for any viable solutions or alternatives. Nevertheless, the 

revised facilities will be uncommitted lines and the Bank reserves the right to request repayment on demand.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs. RSM Hong Kong who retire in the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting and will not seek for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

Cheng Yung Pun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MATRIX HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Matrix Holdings Limited (the“Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 

report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 

as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Group entered into arrangements with two companies to provide management services in respect of race horses 

during the year ended 31 December 2023. During the course of our audit, management provided us with the following 

supporting documents in relation to these services:

(1) a cooperation agreement dated 1 January 2023 (the “Agreement”) entered into between the Company’s wholly-

owned Australian incorporated subsidiary (“Subsidiary Y”) and a Belize incorporated company (“Company A”); 

and

(2) a letter of undertaking dated 1 January 2023 (the “Undertaking”) signed by an Australian incorporated company 

(“Company B”).
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QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Basis for Qualified Opinion (Continued)

Pursuant to the Agreement, Subsidiary Y shall provide management, day-to-day care and training of race horses to 

Company A, and in return Subsidiary Y is entitled to prize money won by these horses. The Agreement does not specify 

details of the horses to be managed or their owners.

Pursuant to the Undertaking, Company A is described as an agent of Company B and Subsidiary Y is Company A’s 

appointed service vendor to provide horse management services to Company B. Company B acknowledged and agreed 

that Company A or Subsidiary Y shall receive the prize money for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Company 

B shall not ask for any refund or partial refund of the prize money received by Company A or Subsidiary Y. However, 

details of the horses managed and prize money amount earned during the year ended 31 December 2023 were not 

specified.

Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, the ultimate controlling party of the Company, is also the director of Company B.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Subsidiary Y recognised other income of approximately AUD2,876,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$15,245,000) representing gross prize money earned by the horses owned by Company 

B as detailed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The net prize money of approximately AUD2,387,000 (net 

of GST and fees deducted by the horse racing authority) was deposited by the horse racing authority into Subsidiary Y’s 

bank account.

During the course of our audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, 

we have not been provided with explanations and supporting documents by management that would satisfy ourselves:

(1) that accepting prize money as consideration for horse management, day-to-day care and training services is a 

general practice in the horse racing industry;

(2) the business rationale that Subsidiary Y was willing to accept prize money, and to receive no fixed service fees, 

as consideration for horse management services notwithstanding the fact that the profitability of horse racing is 

highly uncertain and the Group could be exposed to substantial losses from these arrangements; and

(3) that the arrangements with Company A and Company B for horse management services had been properly 

authorised prior to entering into the Agreement and the Undertaking.

Accordingly, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the 

concerns we expressed as to the commercial substance of the horse racing management service income and there 

were no alternative procedures we could carry out to satisfy ourselves that it was appropriately recorded in the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 

the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is “impairment of goodwill related to toys business”.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill related to toys business

Refer to note 5(b)(iii) and note 21(iii) to the consolidated 

financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill with 

carrying amount of HK$41,822,000 arising from the 

acquisition of Funrise Group in 2007. Funrise Inc. is 

engaged in the wholesale and distribution of toys and 

accessories primarily sold in the US region. Goodwill is 

allocated to this CGU of toys business and is tested for 

impairment annually.

Management assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU 

which is determined based on value in use calculation. 

The value in use calculation require management to 

make assumptions and estimates about growth rates and 

gross margin used in the cashflow projection and suitable 

discount rate applied to the cashflow projection. The 

estimates involve significant management judgements.

Based on the value in use calculation, the carrying 

amount of CGU A exceeded its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss of HK$55,000,000 was recognised during 

the year.

Our procedures in relation to this matter include:

• Understanding and evaluating the key controls over 

the management’s impairment assessment and 

assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement 

by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty 

and level of other inherent risk factors such as 

complexity, subjectivity, changes, susceptibility to 

management bias of fraud;

• Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment 

o f  impa i rment  assessment  to  assess  the 

effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

• Evaluating the independent external valuer’s 

competence, capabilities and objectivity;

• Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions 

based on our knowledge of the business and 

industry; and

• Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 

approach, methodology and discount rate with the 

assistance of our valuation specialists.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all of the information included 

in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 

in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for 

the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.



Matrix Holdings Limited Annual Report 202362

Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Chu Man Wah, Sharon.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 7 714,486 986,094

Cost of sales (405,806) (579,459)

Gross profit 308,680 406,635

Other income 9 26,652 16,424

Other gains and losses 10 8,447 (12,918)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (13,000) –

Impairment losses on intangible assets (55,000) (6,779)

Distribution and selling costs (194,134) (195,268)

Administrative expenses (149,866) (153,984)

Research and development costs (20,237) (20,624)

Other expenses (6,369) (10,446)

(Loss)/profit from operations (94,827) 23,040

Finance costs 11 (3,801) (4,321)

(Loss)/profit before tax 13 (98,628) 18,719

Income tax expense 12 (4,312) (16,888)

(Loss)/profit for the year (102,940) 1,831

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: 

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (5,975) (17,614)

Total comprehensive income for the year (108,915) (15,783)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (102,604) 6,228

Non-controlling interests (336) (4,397)

(102,940) 1,831

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (108,060) (10,332)

Non-controlling interests (855) (5,451)

(108,915) (15,783)

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company:

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (in HK cents per share) 18 (13.6) 0.8

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (in HK cents per share) 18 (13.6) 0.8
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 19 119,518 155,881

Right-of-use assets 20 214,462 235,626

Intangible assets 21 41,822 96,822

Deposits 24 121,086 112,161

Deferred tax assets 30 23,405 27,202

520,293 627,692

Current assets

Inventories 23 189,275 253,939

Trade receivables 24 113,521 84,262

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 24 25,470 35,869

Current tax assets 1,595 2,500

Bank and cash balances 25 181,202 258,959

511,063 635,529

Current liabilities

Trade payables 26 30,305 29,085

Accruals and other payables 26 71,105 95,776

Contract liabilities 27 3,477 2,549

Bank borrowing 28 4,234 5,945

Lease liabilities 29 14,749 17,494

Current tax liabilities 23,894 29,745

147,764 180,594

Net current assets 363,299 454,935

Total assets less current liabilities 883,592 1,082,627
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 29 30,620 44,139

Deferred tax liabilities 30 1,742 2,723

32,362 46,862

NET ASSETS 851,230 1,035,765

Capital and reserves

Share capital 31 75,620 75,620

Reserves 788,114 971,794

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 863,734 1,047,414

Non-controlling interests (12,504) (11,649)

TOTAL EQUITY 851,230 1,035,765

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheng Yung Pun Ms. Yip Hiu Har

Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share

capital

Share

premium

Shareholders’

contribution

Other

reserve

Translation

reserve

Retained

earnings Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 33

(b)(i))

(note 33

(b)(ii))

(note 33

(b)(iii))

At 1 January 2022 75,620 189,090 21,028 (150) (46,081) 893,859 1,133,366 (6,198) 1,127,168

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (16,560) 6,228 (10,332) (5,451) (15,783)

Dividend paid (note 17) – – – – – (75,620) (75,620) – (75,620)

Changes in equity for the year – – – – (16,560) (69,392) (85,952) (5,451) (91,403)

At 31 December 2022 75,620 189,090 21,028 (150) (62,641) 824,467 1,047,414 (11,649) 1,035,765

At 1 January 2023 75,620 189,090 21,028 (150) (62,641) 824,467 1,047,414 (11,649) 1,035,765

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (5,456) (102,604) (108,060) (855) (108,915)

Dividend paid (note 17) – – – – – (75,620) (75,620) – (75,620)

Changes in equity for the year – – – – (5,456) (178,224) (183,680) (855) (184,535)

At 31 December 2023 75,620 189,090 21,028 (150) (68,097) 646,243 863,734 (12,504) 851,230
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before tax (98,628) 18,719

Adjustments for:

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (435) (410)

Interest income (3,348) (3,953)

Finance costs 3,801 4,321

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37,109 45,469

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21,251 22,223

Impairment losses on inventories 23,230 7,053

(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses on deposit (11,000) 11,000

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 13,000 –

Impairment losses on intangible assets 55,000 6,779

Impairment losses on trade receivables, net 1,998 30

Operating profit before working capital changes 41,978 111,231

Decrease in inventories 41,434 67,679

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (31,257) 101,190

Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,526 2,492

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 1,220 (42,876)

Decrease in accruals and other payables (24,671) (721)

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 928 (4,159)

Cash generated from operations 39,158 234,836

Income tax refund – 7

Income tax paid (6,939) (5,672)

Net cash generated from operating activities 32,219 229,171

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income on bank deposits 3,348 3,953

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 832 1,016

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (18,046) (32,270)

Net cash used in investing activities (13,866) (27,301)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid on bank borrowing (384) (133)

Interest paid on lease liabilities (3,417) (4,188)

Decrease in amount due to a director – (8,302)

Dividends paid (75,620) (75,620)

Repayment of bank borrowings (1,711) (1,966)

Repayment of lease liabilities (18,190) (18,798)

Net cash used in financing activities (99,322) (109,007)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (80,969) 92,863

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 3,212 2,020

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 258,959 164,076

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 181,202 258,959

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 181,202 258,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Matrix Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited 

liability and its share are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of its registered 

office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the 

annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in manufacturing 

and trading of toys and lighting products.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as at 31 December 2023, Smart Forest Limited, a company 

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and ultimate parent; and Mr. Cheng Yung 

Pun, who is also the chairman and executive director of the Company, is the ultimate controlling party of the 

Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 

“HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting 

Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the 

applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with 

the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for 

the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies 

resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the 

current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first 

time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments 

to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 

impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied any amendments to standards and interpretation have been issued but 

are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2023. The amendments to standards and 

interpretation include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for 

accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1 – Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements – 

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on 

Demand Clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)”) 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 – Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined 

by the HKICPA

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will not 

have material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 

the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The 

Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has 

power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 

policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the 

Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and 

consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss 

and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the 

Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 

impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is 

classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Business combination (other than under common control) and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. 

The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair value 

of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration. 

Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred 

and the services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are 

measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 

subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of 

the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is 

recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is 

remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated 

profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a business combination 

to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ 

proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the 

acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the 

cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of 

the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest 

level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill 

impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 

indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to 

its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 

impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), 

which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition 

using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in 

foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains 

and losses resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The 

transaction date is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or 

liabilities.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the 

exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a 

gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different 

from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency 

as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 

closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

– Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this 

average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 

the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange 

rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form 

part of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such 

exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 

disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for 

administrative purposes (other than properties under construction as described below). Property, plant 

and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent 

accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 

recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write-off their cost less 

their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 25–50 years or over the lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvement 10 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Plant and machinery 5–10 years

Moulds 3–10 years

Others 3–10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the 

end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 

basis.

Construction in progress represents building for production, supply or administrative purpose and is 

stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.



Matrix Holdings Limited Annual Report 202376

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 

or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 

of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct 

the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has 

elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any 

associated non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, 

except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 

assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides 

whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those 

leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease 

term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the 

lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 

lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. 

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is 

calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to 

profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which 

comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-

of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 

or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present 

value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, except for the right-of-use assets that meet the 

definition of investment property are carried at fair value.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying 

leased assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end 

of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 

Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and 

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to 

be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment 

of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination 

option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 

the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount 

of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 

lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the 

case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

The Group enters into arrangements to sublease an underlying asset to a third party, while the 

Group retains the primary obligation under the original lease. In these arrangements, the Group 

acts as both the lessee and lessor of the same underlying asset.

If the property lease is subleased under terms transferring substantially all remaining risks and 

rewards under the head lease to the lessee in the sublease, the right-of-use asset is derecognised, 

and a subleasing receivable is recognised and classified as a finance lease. Gain/loss on the 

derecognised right-of-use asset, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss account as income/

expenses.

During the term of the sublease, the Group recognises both finance income on the sublease and 

finance costs on the head lease.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(f) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately, including patents, are carried at costs 

less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets 

with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 

useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 

any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite 

useful lives, including trademark, that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. An 

internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase 

of an internal project), including TV programs/TV programs under production, is recognised if, and only if, 

all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(f) Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure 

(Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure 

incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 

internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit 

or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible 

assets that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination, including customer base, are recognised separately 

from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as 

their cost). Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with 

finite useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 

losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in 

a business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses. An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits 

are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, 

measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are 

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

(g) Inventories

Inventories comprise machinery and equipment, construction work materials and consumables and 

are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out 

basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all cost of purchase and other cost incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(h) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the 

related revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to 

receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 

receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest 

accrued under the effective interest method.

(i) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

when the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 

financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in 

the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 

derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 

liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised 

financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 

depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(j) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which represent 

solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using 

the effective interest method.

– Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) – recycling, if the 

contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and 

the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection 

of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 

income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”), interest 

income (calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. 

When the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is 

recycled from equity to profit or loss.

– FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 

(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are recognised in profit 

or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for 

trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to designate 

the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but 

may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where 

such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair 

value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount 

accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled 

through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as 

at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 

to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that 

consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to 

receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit 

losses.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within 

three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

(m) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under 

HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 

after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and 

equity instruments are set out in (n) to (p) below.

(n) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost.

(p) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, at the 

amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after 

deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of toys and lighting products to customers is recognised when control of the goods 

has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the customer’s specific location (delivery).

Certain of the Group’s contracts with customers are based on customer’s specification with no alternative 

use. Taking into consideration for contract terms and the relevant legal and regulatory environment that 

apply to the relevant contracts, performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time once control 

of the goods has been transferred to the customers and the customers have obtained control on the 

goods through their ability to direct other use of and obtain substantially all the benefits from the goods. 

Transportation and handling activities that occur before customers obtain control are considered as 

fulfilment activities.

Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the 

goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and 

loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the 

customers as this represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as 

only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. For financial assets 

measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate 

is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective 

interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Revenue from property leasing is recognised based on the straight-line method over the lease terms.

Broadcasting income is recognised upon delivery of completed television episodes to the broadcasting 

network in accordance with the contract timeline.

Royalty income is recognised upon receipt of periodical notifications and payments from licensees over 

the licensed period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 

employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as 

a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all 

employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a 

percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or 

loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer 

withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and 

involves the payment of termination benefits.

(s) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(t) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 

the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised 

in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

(u) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 

recognised in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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(u) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 

tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 

which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such 

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 

affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 

the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow 

from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the 

right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions 

are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 

applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences 

relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the 

lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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(v) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of 

impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined 

for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 

those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the 

fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. 

Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then 

pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable 

amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the 

impairment.

(w) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in debt instruments that are measured at 

amortised cost or at FVTOCI. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 

credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are 

estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 

factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 

current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money 

where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument 

has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that 

financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 

result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 

date.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the 

reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial 

recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that 

is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future 

prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, 

financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as 

consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the 

Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition:

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

– significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 

instrument;

– existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

– significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

– an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 

debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a 

financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 

than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates 

otherwise.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 

reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 

“investment grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not 

available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a 

strong financial position and there is no past due amount.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 

purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 

generally not recoverable.

– when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

– information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals 

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 

more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

– significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

– the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 

otherwise consider;

– it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or

– the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor has been 

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 

when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may 

still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 

advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 

of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 

and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described 

above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying 

amount at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the 

future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s understanding of the specific 

future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used in measuring 

the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 

ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for 

lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month 

ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with 

a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for 

investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised 

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not 

reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

(x) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value 

of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the 

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is 

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is 

remote.

(y) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at 

the end of the reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial 

statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements that 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart 

from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in accounting policy disclosed in note 4(w), ECL are measured as an allowance equal 

to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves 

to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does 

not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk 

of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative 

reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

(ii) Estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 

equipment

Management estimates useful lives of the property, plant and equipment by reference to the 

Group’s business model, its assets management policy, the industry practice, expected usage 

of the assets, expected repair and maintenance, the technical or commercial obsolescence 

arising from changes or improvements in the market. Residual values of the property, plant and 

equipment are determined based on prevailing market values for equivalent aged assets taking 

into account the condition of the relevant assets and other economic considerations. Depreciation 

expenses would be significantly affected by the useful lives and residual values of the property, 

plant and equipment as estimated by management.

(iii) Revenue recognition from sales of products with no alternative use at a 

point in time

Revenue is recognised over time when the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an 

alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance 

completed to date. Significant judgement is required in determining whether the terms of the 

Group’s contracts with customers in relation to products with no alternative use create an 

enforceable right to payment for the Group. The Group has considered the relevant local laws that 

apply to those relevant contracts and opinion from external legal counsel. Based on the assessment 

of the Group’s management, the terms of the relevant sales contracts do not create an enforceable 

right to payment for the Group for the performance completed to date with a reasonable margin. 

Accordingly, the sales of products with no alternative use is considered to be performance 

obligation satisfied at a point in time.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(i) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required 

in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for 

which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 

determination is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, approximately HK$4,312,000 (2022: approximately 

HK$16,888,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profit from 

operations.

(ii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has 

to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has 

occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an 

asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present 

value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) 

the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including 

cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and 

estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could 

materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2023 were 

approximately HK$119,518,000 (2022: approximately HK$155,881,000) after an impairment loss 

on property, plant and equipment of HK$13,000,000 (2022: Nil) recognised during the current 

year.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii) Impairment of intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and trademark are impaired requires an estimation of the 

recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating units to which goodwill and trademark have 

been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 

expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 

the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than the expected or change in facts 

and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of 

discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to CGU A (note 21 (iii)) as at 31 December 2023 was 

approximately HK$41,822,000 (2022: approximately HK$96,822,000) after an accumulative 

impairment loss of approximately HK$55,000,000 (2022: Nil) was recognised. The carrying 

amount of goodwill allocated to CGU B (note 21 (iv)) was Nil (2022: Nil) after an accumulated 

impairment loss of approximately HK$4,501,000 was recognised. The carrying amount of 

trademark at the end of the reporting period was Nil (2022: Nil) after an accumulative impairment 

loss of HK$9,278,000 (2022: HK$9,278,000) was recognised. Details of the impairment loss 

calculation are provided in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade 

receivables based on the credit risk of trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss 

based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects 

to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the 

future cash flows are less than expected or being revised downward due to changes in facts and 

circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables is approximately 

HK$113,521,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately HK$5,556,000 

(2022: approximately HK$84,262,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately 

HK$3,648,000).

(v) Impairment of deposit

Management estimated the recoverable amount of the Group’s deposit for proposed acquisition of 

a target company based on the fair value of the land plots to be obtained by such target company. 

Independent external valuations were obtained in order to support management’s estimates of 

the fair value less cost of disposal of the land plots. The valuations are dependent on certain key 

assumptions that require significant management judgments including the adjustment factors 

used on comparable properties. Any changes to these adjustment factors would result in further 

impairment losses.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v) Impairment of deposit (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of deposit is approximately HK$114,847,000 (2022: 

approximately HK$106,891,000) after a reversal of impairment loss of HK$11,000,000 (2022: 

impairment loss of approximately HK$11,000,000) was recognised.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and 

liabilities are principally denominated in HK$, United States dollar (“US$”), Vietnamese Dong (“VND”), 

British Pound (“GBP”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Australian dollar (“AUD”) and Canadian dollar (“CAD”). 

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 

transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will 

consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting 

period, are as follows:

Exposure to foreign currencies

Assets Liabilities

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 206,937 212,626 74,138 94,511

VND 17,094 191,568 43,226 61,929

GBP 17,822 20,368 6,094 7,369

RMB 1,532 706 3,443 2,079

AUD 23,486 10,777 10,858 9,359

CAD 14,968 7,912 909 1,729

EUR 13,318 14,947 990 1,727

Others 3,165 1,422 47 10

Intragroup balances

US$ 1,012,125 1,333,259 1,517,534 1,520,751
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% (2022: 5%) strengthening of the functional currency 

of the relevant group entities against the relevant currency and a positive and negative number below 

indicates a decrease and an (increase) in loss after tax (2022: an increase and a (decrease) in profit after 

tax) respectively. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of the functional currency of the relevant group entities 

against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss/profit after tax.

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ (18,631) (3,469)

VND (1,307) 6,482

GBP 586 650

RMB (96) (69)

AUD 631 71

CAD 703 309

EUR 616 661
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure 

to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the respective 

recognised financial assets as stated in the respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. The 

Group’s exposure to credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash flows of trade receivables, deposits 

and other receivables, and bank balances.

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are highly reputable with 

multinational presences. Investment transactions are executed with financial institutions with sound credit 

ratings and the Group does not expect any significant counterparty risk. The directors of the Company 

do not expect any losses from nonperformance by these banks and financial institutions as they have no 

default history in the past.

For trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit 

history. In order to minimise credit risk, the directors of the Company have delegated a team to be 

responsible for the determination of credit limited and credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 

to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Individual credit evaluation is performed 

on all customers balances requiring credit over a certain amount, and using a collective assessment 

for the remaining balances. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payment 

when due and current ability to pay and take into account information specific to the customer as well as 

pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration of credit risk on trade receivables as 75% (2022: 

66%) of its trade receivables were due from the five largest customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which is 

calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate 

significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due 

status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provide information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 

receivables as at 31 December 2023:

Current

Not more

than 90 days

past due

More than

90 days

past due Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2023

Expected loss rate

− Individual assessed

• Company A 0.11% 0.53% 0.78%

• Company B 0.11% 0.53% 0.78%

• Company C – – –

• Company D 0.02% 0.21% 0.34%

− Collectively assessed 2.65% 9.26% 13.57%

− Specifically assessed – – 100.00%

Gross carrying amount

− Individual assessed

• Company A 22,273 5,465 401 28,139

• Company B 9,326 – – 9,326

• Company C – – – –

• Company D 39,518 355 – 39,873

71,117 5,820 401 77,338

− Collectively assessed 26,795 7,702 3,684 38,181

− Specifically assessed – – 3,558 3,558

Total 97,912 13,522 7,643 119,077

Loss allowance

− Individual assessed

• Company A (24) (29) (3) (56)

• Company B (10) – – (10)

• Company C – – – –

• Company D (8) (1) – (9)

(42) (30) (3) (75)

− Collectively assessed (710) (713) (500) (1,923)

− Specifically assessed – – (3,558) (3,558)

Total (752) (743) (4,061) (5,556)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provide information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 

receivables as at 31 December 2022:

Current

Not more

than 90 days

past due

More than

90 days

past due Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2022

Expected loss rate

– Individual assessed

• Company A 0.06% 0.34% 0.77%

• Company B 0.06% 0.34% 0.77%

• Company C 2.66% 5.05% 7.71%

• Company D 0.02% 0.11% 0.34%

– Collectively assessed 2.65% 5.80% 8.21%

– Specifically assessed – – 100%

Gross carrying amount

– Individual assessed

• Company A 7,891 909 455 9,255

• Company B 718 821 – 1,539

• Company C 6,432 – – 6,432

• Company D 33,836 1,741 202 35,779

48,877 3,471 657 53,005

– Collectively assessed 24,705 7,202 665 32,572

– Specifically assessed – – 2,333 2,333

Total 73,582 10,673 3,655 87,910

Loss allowance

– Individual assessed

• Company A (5) (3) (3) (11)

• Company B – (3) – (3)

• Company C (171) – – (171)

• Company D (7) (2) (1) (10)

(183) (8) (4) (195)

– Collectively assessed (655) (417) (48) (1,120)

– Specifically assessed – – (2,333) (2,333)

Total (838) (425) (2,385) (3,648)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables 

under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL

(individual

and collective

assessment – not

credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL

(Specifically 

assessment – 

credit-impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 3,229 1,368 4,597

Transfer to credit impaired (965) 965 –

Impairment losses reversed (2,238) – (2,238)

New financial assets originated 1,289 – 1,289

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1,315 2,333 3,648

Transfer to credit impaired (1,225) 1,225 –

Write-off (90) – (90)

New financial assets originated 1,998 – 1,998

At 31 December 2023 1,998 3,558 5,556

Other financial assets at amortised costs

The Group applies the expected credit loss model on other financial assets at amortised cost. Impairment 

on deposits (except deposit paid for proposed acquisition of a target company, and raw materials and 

plant and machineries (note 24)) and other receivables are measured as either 12-month expected credit 

losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred 

since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses. Management 

considered, among other factors, analysed historical pattern and concluded that the expected credit loss 

for other financial assets at amortised cost to be immaterial as the credit risk is assessed as low.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 

maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative of 

financial liabilities is as follows:

Less than

1 year or

on demand

Between

1 to 2 years

Between

2 to 5 years

Over

5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2023

Trade payables 30,305 – – – 30,305

Accruals and other payables 71,105 – – – 71,105

Bank borrowing (note) 2,096 2,485 – – 4,581

Lease liabilities 17,373 5,536 9,253 46,801 78,963

120,879 8,021 9,253 46,801 184,954

At 31 December 2022

Trade payables 29,085 – – – 29,085

Accruals and other payables 95,776 – – – 95,776

Bank borrowing (note) 2,096 2,096 1,921 – 6,113

Lease liabilities 20,889 16,948 10,930 50,386 99,153

147,846 19,044 12,851 50,386 230,127

Note: Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time 

band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the total undiscounted principal amounts 

of this bank loan amounted to approximately HK$4,234,000 and HK$5,945,000 respectively. The directors of the 

Company do not believe it is probable that the bank will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate 

repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowing will be repaid one to two years after the 

end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate arises from long-term HK$ denominated bank borrowings, bank deposits 

and cash at bank with variable rate, which expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group 

has not used any interest rate hedging policy to mitigate its exposure associated with interest rate risk. 

However, the management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging 

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risks is mainly arising from bank deposits which bear interests at fixed 

interest rates.

Bank borrowings, bank deposits and cash at bank are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the 

management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank 

borrowings and bank deposits are insignificant.

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:

Financial assets at amortised cost 312,816 480,239

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 151,013 192,439

(f) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the 

consolidated statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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7. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

By major product lines:

− Manufacturing and trading of toys 692,149 965,250

− Manufacturing and trading of lighting products 22,337 20,844

714,486 986,094

Timing of recognition:

− At a point in time 714,486 986,094

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers, regularly review revenue 

analysis by customers and by locations. The executive directors of the Company considered the operating 

activities of manufacturing and trading of toys and lighting products as a single operating segment. The operating 

segment has been identified on the basis of internal management reports prepared and is regularly reviewed by 

the executive directors of the Company. The executive directors of the Company review the overall results, assets 

and liabilities of the Group as a whole to make decisions about resources allocation. Accordingly, no analysis of 

this single operating segment is presented.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group’s reportable segments are based on the following geographic location of customers. Locations other 

than the following countries which are individually below 10 per cent are aggregated and presented under “other 

locations”.

1. The United States

2. Europe

3. Mexico

4. Canada

5. South America

6. Australia and New Zealand

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

– Segment profits or losses do not include certain other income, other gains and losses, central 

administrative costs, directors’ emoluments and finance costs;

– Segment assets do not include property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, 

deferred tax assets and other corporate assets, which are managed on a central basis; and

– Segment liabilities do not include, bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, lease liabilities and accrued 

central administration costs.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results:

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segment based on the 

geographic location of customers:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Reportable segments

The United

States Europe Mexico Canada

South

America

Australia

and New

Zealand

Total

reportable

segments

Other

locations Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 483,592 88,384 11,349 66,298 13,414 38,932 701,969 12,517 – 714,486

Results segment profit/(loss) 64,221 (10,226) (195) 5,656 3,100 (4,851) 57,705 2,923 – 60,628

Unallocated other income 22,659

Unallocated corporate expenses (178,114)

Finance costs (3,801)

Loss before income tax (98,628)

Other segment information

Depreciation and amortisation 41,776 2,940 371 2,236 436 2,710 50,469 407 7,682 58,558

Impairment losses on intangible 

assets – – – – – – – – 55,000 55,000

Impairment losses on property, 

plant and equipment – – – – – – – – 13,000 13,000

Reversal of impairment losses on 

deposit – – – – – – – – (11,000) (11,000)

Impairment losses on trade 

receivables, net 1,271 278 36 209 42 123 1,959 39 – 1,998

Impairment losses on inventories 13,985 6,525 217 1,263 256 742 22,988 242 – 23,230
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results: (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segment based on the 

geographic location of customers: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Reportable segments

The United

States Europe Mexico Canada

South

America

Australia

and New

Zealand

Total

reportable

segments

Other

locations Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 736,916 81,797 13,753 84,071 12,602 39,853 968,992 17,102 – 986,094

Results segment profit/(loss) 174,636 (11,289) 1,102 12,215 3,184 (2,133) 177,715 4,309 – 182,024

Unallocated other income 12,902

Unallocated corporate expenses (171,886)

Finance costs (4,321)

Profit before income tax 18,719

Other segment information

Depreciation and amortisation 43,770 2,286 368 2,183 337 1,610 50,554 457 16,681 67,692

Impairment losses of intangible 

assets – – – – – – – – 6,779 6,779

Impairment loss of deposit – – – – – – – – 11,000 11,000

Impairment losses on trade 

receivables, net 22 3 – 3 – 1 29 1 – 30

Impairment losses on inventories 2,282 4,253 43 260 39 123 7,000 53 – 7,053
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities:

The followings is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment based on the 

geographical location of customers:

At 31 December 2023

Reportable segments

The United

States Europe Mexico Canada

South

America

Australia

and New

Zealand

Total

reportable

segments

Other

locations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 245,563 25,430 3,704 17,544 3,691 14,536 310,468 11,821 322,289

Reconciliation:

Unallocated assets

– Property, plant and equipment 119,518

– Intangible assets 41,822

– Deferred tax assets 23,405

– Right-of-use assets 214,462

– Other current assets 309,860

Total assets 1,031,356

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 67,992 9,404 577 3,662 682 4,739 87,056 1,696 88,752

Reconciliation:

Unallocated liabilities

– Deferred tax liabilities 1,742

– Bank borrowing 4,234

– Lease liabilities 45,369

– Other current liabilities 40,029

Total liabilities 180,126
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities: (Continued)

The followings is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment based on the 

geographical location of customers: (Continued)

At 31 December 2022

Reportable segments

The United

States Europe Mexico Canada

South

America

Australia

and New

Zealand

Total

reportable

segments

Other

locations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 250,341 33,832 5,034 30,598 4,135 19,286 343,226 21,889 365,115

Reconciliation:

Unallocated assets

– Property, plant and equipment 155,881

– Intangible assets 96,822

– Deferred tax assets 27,202

– Right-of-use assets 235,626

– Other current assets 382,575

Total assets 1,263,221

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 68,191 7,449 1,753 7,376 1,610 6,085 92,464 3,400 95,864

Reconciliation:

Unallocated liabilities

– Deferred tax liabilities 2,723

– Bank borrowing 5,945

– Lease liabilities 61,633

– Other current liabilities 61,291

Total liabilities 227,456
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Geographical information:

The Group’s information about its non-current assets by location of assets are as follow:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 1,338 2,567

Vietnam 263,980 307,784

The United States 58,149 123,871

The PRC 34,526 35,954

Europe 1,354 3,196

Other countries 16,455 14,957

375,802 488,329

Note: The above non-current assets excluded long-term deposits and deferred tax assets.

(d) Revenue from major customers:

There are 2 customers (2022: 2 customers) in the United States of America with revenue amounted 

to approximately HK$253,538,000 (2022: HK$408,965,000) and HK$80,805,000 (2022: 

HK$167,247,000), contributing to approximately 35% and 11% (2022: approximately 41% and 17%) 

respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. There is no other single 

customer contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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9. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants (note (i)) – 552

Interest income on bank deposits 3,348 3,953

Rental income 3,396 3,184

Sales of scrap materials and samples – 907

Royalty income 25 63

Others (note (ii)) 19,883 7,765

26,652 16,424

Note (i): The Group recognised government grants of Nil (2022: HK$552,000) in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies under the 

Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Note (ii): Included in others is prize money earned from horses racing management services amounting to HK$15,245,000 (equivalent 

to approximately AUD2,876,000) (2022: Nil).

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 435  410

Net foreign exchange losses (990) (2,298)

(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses on deposit 11,000 (11,000)

Impairment losses on trade receivables, net  (1,998) (30)

8,447 (12,918)
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11. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expense on bank borrowing 384 133

Interest expense on lease liabilities 3,417 4,188

3,801 4,321

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax

– Hong Kong

Provision for the year – –

– Other jurisdictions

Provision for the year 168 16,112

Under provision in prior years 1,824 203

1,992 16,315

Deferred tax (note 30) 2,320 573

4,312 16,888

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying 

corporations established in Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25%, and profits above that amount will be subject 

to the tax rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial 

statements since the Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against assessable profit for the 

years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Vietnam enterprise income tax has been provided at 10% to 20% (2022: 10% to 20%) for subsidiaries operating 

in Vietnam for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

United States enterprise income tax has been provided at 21% (2022: 21%) for subsidiaries operating in the US 

for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the 

applicable rate is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (98,628) 18,719

Tax at applicable tax rate (8,199) 1,211

Tax effect of income that is not taxable (4,219) (67)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 11,732 22,300

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 4,940 873

Utilisation of tax losses previously recognised (1,671) (6,770)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (897) (4,216)

Under provisions in prior years 1,824 203

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 802 3,354

Income tax expense 4,312 16,888



Matrix Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging the following:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration

– Audit services 3,851 3,384

– Non-audit services 1,074 1,212

Cost of inventories sold 367,504 560,728

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37,109 45,469

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21,251 22,223

Impairment losses on trade receivables, net 1,998 30

Impairment losses on inventories (included in cost of sales) 23,230 7,053

Legal and professional fees (included in other expenses) 6,369 10,446

Royalty expenses (included in distribution and selling expenses) 60,718 61,521

Research and development costs recognised as expenses 20,237 20,624

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ emoluments)

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 185,377 268,078

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3,090 3,423

Staff welfare 10,465 12,661

198,932 284,162
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals:

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included one (2022: one) director whose 

emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2022: four) 

individuals are set out below:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 12,731 12,384

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 366 274

13,097 12,658

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell 

within the following bands is as follows:

Number of individuals

2023 2022

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – –

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 –

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 4

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 – –

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 –

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the four highest paid 

individuals set out above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 

office.

For both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals (including directors 

and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for the loss of office.
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

Fee Salary

Retirement

benefit

scheme

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended

31 December 2023

Executive directors

Cheng Yung Pun – 1,119 – 1,119

Tse Kam Wah (note 1) – 1,423 – 1,423

Tsang Chung Wa (note 2) – 1,015 17 1,032

Cheng King Cheung – 2,413 137 2,550

Yip Hiu Har (note 3) – 3,250 18 3,268

Independent non-executive 

directors

Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam 110 – – 110

Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey 110 – – 110

Heng Ja Wei, Victor 110 – – 110

Chui Ka Hing 83 – – 83

Total 413 9,220 172 9,805

For the year ended

31 December 2022

Executive directors

Cheng Yung Pun – 1,119 – 1,119

Tse Kam Wah (note 1) – 1,474 – 1,474

Tsang Chung Wa (note 2) – 1,180 18 1,198

Cheng King Cheung – 1,964 129 2,093

Yip Hiu Har (note 3) – 3,250 18 3,268

Independent non-executive 

directors

Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam 100 – – 100

Mak Shiu Chung, Godfrey 100 – – 100

Heng Ja Wei, Victor 100 – – 100

Total 300 8,987 165 9,452
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Note 1: Resigned with effect from 1 December 2023.

Note 2: Resigned with effect from 6 December 2023.

Note 3: Yip Hiu Har is also a chief executive officer (CEO) of the Company.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year (2022: Nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Other than those related party transactions and balances disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial 

statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business 

to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected 

party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year (2022: Nil).

(c) Director’s termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any termination benefits during the year ended 31 

December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay considerations to any third parties 

for making available directors’ services (2022: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 

bodies corporate controlled by and entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their 

controlled bodies corporate and the directors’ connected entities (2022: Nil).
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16. RETIREMENT BENEFITS – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at least five years are entitled to long 

service payments in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. 

These circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or 

redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and 

expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary 

(capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from 

the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme (see Note 15(a)) or ORSO plan (see Note 15(a)), with an overall cap 

of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the group does not have any separate funding arrangement in place to 

meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued 

benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take 

effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to 

introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP 

payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative 

returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but 

are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued benefits derived 

from the Group’s voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-transition can continue to be used to offset 

pre- and post-transition LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will be grandfathered 

and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of 

service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with 

respect to Hong Kong employees that participate in MPF Scheme. The Amendment Ordinance has no material 

impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees that participate in the Group’s ORSO plans.

Eligible employees in Macau currently participate in a social security fund scheme operated by the local 

government. The contributions are fixed for domestic employees who meet certain eligibility requirements.

Eligible employees in Vietnam currently participate in a defined contribution pension scheme operated by the 

local municipal government. The calculation of contributions is based on certain percentage of the employees’ 

payroll.

There are defined contribution retirement plans established in the United States for all domestic employees who 

meet certain eligibility requirements as to age and length of service.
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17. DIVIDENDS

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends paid:

– 2022 final (HK8 cents per share) 60,496 –

– 2023 interim (HK2 cents per share) 15,124 –

– 2021 final (HK6 cents per share) – 45,372

– 2022 interim (HK4 cents per share) – 30,248

75,620 75,620

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board has declared and recommended to pay a second 

interim dividend of HK3 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023. The declared and 

paid interim dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in the financial statements, but will be reflected as an 

appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 31 December 2024.

18. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the following:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/earnings

(Loss)/earnings attributable to owners of the Company and

(loss)/profit for the purpose of calculating (loss)/earnings per share (102,604) 6,228

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of

calculating basic (loss)/earnings per share 756,203,000 756,203,000

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no diluted (loss)/earnings per share was presented as the 

Company did not have any diluted potential ordinary shares.



Matrix Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Building

Leasehold 

improvements

Plant and 

machinery Moulds

Construction 

in progress Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)

Cost

At 1 January 2022 153,992 20,901 242,534 154,267 4,227 61,742 637,663

Additions 632 787 19,466 – 920 10,465 32,270

Disposals – – (8,379) – – (4,774) (13,153)

Exchange differences (4,021) (105) (8,104) – (533) (4,342) (17,105)

At 31 December 2022 and 

1 January 2023 150,603 21,583 245,517 154,267 4,614 63,091 639,675

Additions 1,685 125 2,023 – 853 13,360 18,046

Disposals – – (4,694) – – (10,272) (14,966)

Exchange differences (2,742) 35 (5,978) – (532) (864) (10,081)

At 31 December 2023 149,546 21,743 236,868 154,267 4,935 65,315 632,674

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

At 1 January 2022 69,566 16,880 186,000 153,638 – 35,431 461,515

Charge for the year 5,696 678 21,291 250 – 17,554 45,469

Disposals – – (8,379) – – (4,168) (12,547)

Exchange differences (1,849) (47) (6,185) – – (2,562) (10,643)

At 31 December 2022 and 

1 January 2023 73,413 17,511 192,727 153,888 – 46,255 483,794

Charge for the year 5,696 617 18,237 – – 12,559 37,109

Impairment for the year 10,000 – – – 3,000 – 13,000

Disposals – – (4,752) – – (9,817) (14,569)

Exchange differences (1,331) 14 (5,004) – – 143 (6,178)

At 31 December 2023 87,778 18,142 201,208 153,888 3,000 49,140 513,156

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2023 61,768 3,601 35,660 379 1,935 16,175 119,518

At 31 December 2022 77,190 4,072 52,790 379 4,614 16,836 155,881

Note: Others included items, such as tooling equipment, containers, motor vehicles and livestocks (which do not involve biological 

transformation for sale). During the year ended 31 December 2023, the addition mainly represented containers and motor 

vehicles (2022: motor vehicles).
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold 

land and land 

use rights

Leased 

properties

Office 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 186,893 71,060 510 258,463

Additions – 2,866 – 2,866

Depreciation (4,892) (16,944) (387) (22,223)

Exchange differences (1,455) (2,075) 50 (3,480)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 180,546 54,907 173 235,626

Additions – 1,926 – 1,926

Depreciation (4,809) (16,267) (175) (21,251)

Exchange differences (1,319) (522) 2 (1,839)

At 31 December 2023 174,418 40,044 – 214,462

Lease liabilities of HK$45,369,000 (2022: HK$61,633,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of 

HK$40,044,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$61,452,000). The lease agreements do not impose any 

covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not 

be used as security for borrowing purposes.

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets (note 13) 21,251 22,223

Interest expense on lease liabilities 

(included in finance cost) (note 11) 3,417 4,188

Expenses relating to short-term lease 

(included in administrative expenses) 7,599 6,026

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 34.

For both years, the Group had leased properties and leased office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts 

are entered into for fixed term of 2 to 26 years (2022: 2 to 26 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual 

basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing 

the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period 

for which the contract is enforceable.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Patents Trademarks TV programs Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii))

Cost

At 1 January 2022 101,323 14,630 10,362 68,489 194,804

Exchange differences – – (1,084) – (1,084)

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 

31 December 2023 101,323 14,630 9,278 68,489 193,720

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

At 1 January 2022 (4,501) (14,630) (2,499) (68,489) (90,119)

Impairment loss for the year – – (6,779) – (6,779)

At 31 December 2022 and 

1 January 2023 (4,501) (14,630) (9,278) (68,489) (96,898)

Impairment loss for the year (55,000) – – – (55,000)

At 31 December 2023 (59,501) (14,630) (9,278) (68,489) (151,898)

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2023 41,822 – – – 41,822

At 31 December 2022 96,822 – – – 96,822

Note (i): The trademark acquired through a business combination during the year ended 31 December 2017 has a legal life of 10 

years but is renewable every 10 years at a minimal cost. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group 

would renew the trademark continuously and without any difficulties. As a result the trademark is considered by the 

directors of the Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash inflow indefinitely. 

The trademark will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment 

annually and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

Note (ii): TV programs under production represent the development, production and distribution of children’s animated television 

series. Cost of production comprise fees paid and repayable under agreements, and direct costs/expenses incurred during 

the production of the program. TV programs under production are accounts for on a project-by-project basis and are stated 

at cost less impairment. TV programs, less estimated residual value and any accumulated impairment losses are amortised 

using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of TV programs over their estimated useful life ranged from within one to 

three years.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Note (iii): Impairment tests for goodwill of toys business

Goodwill with cost of HK$96,822,000 (2022: HK$96,822,000) was mainly allocated to a cash-generating unit in the 

toys business in the United States market related to the acquisition of Funrise Holdings, LLC, Funrise, Inc. and Code 3 

Collectibles LLC in 2007 (“CGU A”). The Group performs impairment test on goodwill annually, or more frequently if there 

is any indication that it may be impaired, by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying amount as at the date of the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

The recoverable amount of the CGU A has been determined based on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses 

cash flow forecast projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows 

beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2022: 2.5%) terminal growth rate. The management 

determines budgeted gross margin based on past performance and their expectation of market development. The revenue 

growth rates, gross margin and discount rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2023 taking into consideration 

higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current year relating to changing of product portfolio, and expediting the 

roll-out of new products in response to changing consumer preferences and market trends. The pre-tax discount rate 

applied to the cash flow forecast is 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) and it reflects specific risks relating to the relevant operating unit. 

The sales growth rate applied to cash flow forecast ranged from 2.5% to 6% (2022: 3% to 8%).

Based on the value in use calculation, the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of CGU A, and thus 

an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$55,000,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was recognised for the year ended 31 

December 2023.

The carrying value of.CGU A exceeds the recoverable amount calculated based on value in use If the estimated discount 

rate used in determining the recoverable amounts of CGU A had been 0.5% or 1% higher than the management’s estimates 

as at 31 December 2023, would lead to an additional impairment loss of approximately HK$4,000,000 or HK$8,000,000.

Note (iv): Impairment tests for goodwill and trademark of the lighting business

Goodwill with cost of HK$4,501,000 (2022: HK$4,501,000) and trademark with cost of HK$9,278,000 (2022: 

HK$9,278,000) were allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit in the design, manufacturing, marketing and 

distribution of energy efficient lighting products related to the acquisition of Fern-Howard Limited (“CGU B”). The Group 

performs impairment tests on goodwill and trademark annually, or more frequently if there is any indication that it may be 

impaired, by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying amount as at the date of the consolidated statement of 

financial position.

Full impairment provision was recognised against CGU B during the year ended 31 December 2022. The recoverable 

amount of the CGU B has been determined based on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses cash flow forecast 

projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.

The management considered that the actual performance of CGU B and recent market development aligned with the 

Board’s approved discounted cash flow projections from previous year. Therefore, consistent assumptions and inputs were 

used for estimation of cash flows for CGU B annual impairment test as at 31 December 2023. Cash flows beyond the five-

year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% (2022: 2%) terminal growth rate. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the 

cash flow forecast is 21% (2022: 21%) and it reflects specific risks relating to the relevant operating unit. The sales growth 

rate applied to cash flow forecast is ranged from 1% to 2% (2022: 1% to 2%).

Based on the value in use calculation, the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of CGU B, and thus no 

reversal of impairment loss is recognised. At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill and trademark was Nil 

(2022: Nil) after an accumulative impairment loss of HK$4,501,000 and HK$9,278,000 was recognised.



Matrix Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued capital/

Registered capital

Percentage ownership/

voting power/

profit sharing Principal activities

2023 2022

Funrise, Inc. The United States US$7,500 

common shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Wholesale distribution and 

importation of toy and sales 

of accessories connected 

with its products ranges

Funrise Toys Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 

preference shares 

HK$90,000 

ordinary shares 

HK$10,000 

redeemable shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Wholesale distribution and 

importation of toy and sales 

of accessories connected 

with its products ranges

Funrise Toys (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 

ordinary shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Wholesale distribution and 

importation of toy and sales 

of accessories connected 

with its products ranges

Mega Management Services 

Limited

Hong Kong HK$10 

ordinary shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Provision of management 

services

Javi Investment Joint Stock 

Company

Vietnam VND160,000,000,000 

ordinary shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Investment holding

Keyhinge Enterprises 

(Macao Commercial Offshore) 

Company Limited

Samoa US$1,000,000 

ordinary shares

100% 100% Purchase and trading of toys
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued capital/

Registered capital

Percentage ownership/

voting power/

profit sharing Principal activities

2023 2022

Matrix Manufacturing Vietnam 

Company Limited

Vietnam US$14,960,000 

contributed

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Manufacture of toys and 

lighting products

Keyhinge Toys Vietnam Joint 

Stock Company

Vietnam US$47,719,000 

contributed legal capital

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Manufacture of toys and 

lighting products

Matrix Vinh Company Limited Vietnam US$4,849,000 

contributed legal capital

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Manufacture of toys

Matrix Plastic Manufacturing 

(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd. (note)

PRC US$5,910,000 

registered capital

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Manufacture of toys

Matrix Lighting Limited BVI US$10 

ordinary shares

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Trading of lighting products

Viribright Lighting Inc. The United States US$10,000 

common shares of stock

100% 

(indirect)

100% 

(indirect)

Trading of lighting products

Fern-Howard Limited The United Kingdom GBP2,769,252 

ordinary shares

65% 

(indirect)

65% 

(indirect)

Manufacturing and trading of 

lighting products

Note: A wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary operating in the United Kingdom, 

Fern-Howard Limited, that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial 

information below represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December

Non-current assets 435 95

Current assets 5,017 18,935

Non-current liabilities – (4)

Current liabilities (38,883) (46,014)

Net liabilities (33,431) (26,988)

Accumulated non-controlling interests (12,504) (11,649)

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 10,913 8,074

Loss for the year (960) (5,783)

Other comprehensive income (1,483) (3,011)

Total comprehensive income (2,443) (8,794)

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests (336) (4,397)

Net cash generated from operating activities 5,023 356

Net cash used in investing activities (23) –

Net cash used in financing activities (5,561) (2,282)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent (561) (1,926)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment loss on trademark of Nil was allocated to the non-controlling interests 

based on its proportionate shareholdings (2022: HK$2,373,000).
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23. INVENTORIES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 56,916 99,633

Work in progress 37,219 62,378

Finished goods 95,140 91,928

189,275 253,939

Impairment losses for slow-moving inventories of approximately HK$23,230,000 (2022: HK$7,053,000) has 

been recognised and included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2023.

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 119,077 87,910

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (5,556) (3,648)

113,521 84,262

Prepayments 5,824 11,012

Deposits

– for proposed acquisition of a target company (note) 114,847 106,891

– for raw materials and plant and machineries 7,792 11,708

– for rental and utilities 6,382 5,426

Other receivables 11,711 12,993

146,556 148,030

Less: non-current portion (121,086) (112,161)

25,470 35,869

Note: On 27 July 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Keyhinge Toys Vietnam Joint Stock Company (“KVN”) 

entered into a master capital transfer agreement (“Master Agreement”) with an individual being the transferor, in respect 

of the proposed acquisition of a target company. Pursuant to the Master Agreement, the transferor conditionally agreed 

to sell entire equity interests in the target company to KVN, subject to conditions precedent, for a total cash consideration 

of VND356,950,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$114,847,000). Before completion, it is necessary for the target 

company obtain the relevant land use rights of certain land plots in Danang City, Vietnam.
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group allows a credit period ranged from 14 to 90 days to its customers. The aging analysis of trade debtors 

based on the invoice date, and net of allowance is a as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days 82,216 54,529

61 to 90 days 5,403 18,893

More than 90 days 25,902 10,840

113,521 84,262

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 3,648 4,597

Net impairment losses recognised for the year 1,998 30

Write-off (90) (979)

At 31 December 5,556 3,648

The carrying amounts of the Group’s net trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 94,350 62,109

CAD 3,297 5,029

GBP 7,866 6,026

AUD 3,846 5,261

Others 4,162 5,837

113,521 84,262
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25. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash on hand 80 131

Cash at bank 181,122 258,828

Total bank and cash balances 181,202 258,959

At 31 December 2023, cash at bank carried interest at market rate ranging from 0.01% to 3.75% per annum 

(2022: ranging from 0.01% to 6% per annum), thus exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and cash balances are denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 14,387 9,284

US$ 109,760 146,158

VND 11,211 77,533

GBP 8,855 12,145

AUD 15,882 3,015

EUR 8,942 7,932

CAD 11,396 2,426

Other 769 466

181,202 258,959

26. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 30,305 29,085

Accrued employee benefit expenses 24,940 33,413

Other payables and accruals 46,165 62,363

101,410 124,861
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the date of receipt of goods is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days 25,252 24,219

61 to 90 days 2,006 1,663

More than 90 days 3,047 3,203

30,305 29,085

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 3,686 2,590

US$ 17,135 11,355

RMB 2,852 1,980

VND 4,770 8,105

AUD – 2,654

Others 1,862 2,401

30,305 29,085
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Billing in advance of performance obligation

– Sales of toys 3,274 2,435

– Sales of lighting products 203 114

3,477 2,549

Contract liabilities arise when the customers pay deposits before the Group transfers control of the goods to the 

customers. The contract liabilities are expected to be settled within one year.

Movements in contract liabilities:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2,549 6,708

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue 

during the year was included in contract liabilities at the 

beginning of the year (2,549) (6,708)

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in advance of 

sales of toys and lighting products 3,477 2,549

At 31 December 3,477 2,549
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28. BANK BORROWING

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowing 4,234 5,945

The bank borrowing is repayable as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,852 2,002

More than one year, but not exceeding two years 2,382 2,040

More than two years, but not exceeding five years – 1,903

4,234 5,945

Portion of bank borrowing that is due for repayment after one year 

but contain a repayment on demand clause 

(shown under current liabilities) (4,234) (5,945)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months – –

The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowing is denominated in HK$.

The Group’s bank borrowing of approximately HK$4,234,000 (2022: HK$5,945,000) is arranged at variable 

interest rate at 1.75% above Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and secured by guarantees from a subsidiary of 

the Group and the Company, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2023, 

the effective interest rates of the Group’s bank borrowing is 6.22% (2022: 6.09%) per annum.
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum 

lease payments

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 17,373 20,889 14,750 17,494

Between one to two years 5,536 16,948 3,450 14,391

Between two to five years 9,253 10,930 3,578 5,035

More than five years 46,801 50,386 23,591 24,713

78,963 99,153 45,369 61,633

Less: Future finance charges (33,594) (37,520) N/A N/A

Present value of lease obligations 45,369 61,633 45,369 61,633

Less: Am ount due for settlement within 

12 months (shown under 

current liabilities) (14,749) (17,494)

Amount due for settlement after 

12 months 30,620 44,139

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities are mainly denominated in US$ and VND.
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30. DEFERRED TAX

The analysis of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets (23,405) (27,202)

Deferred tax liabilities 1,742 2,723

(21,663) (24,479)

The movement in net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities are as follows:

Decelerated 

tax 

depreciation Tax losses

Allowance 

for doubtful 

debts Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)

At 1 January 2022 (2,413) (8,003) (109) (14,503) (25,028)

Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 1,630 6,771 – (7,826) 575

Exchange difference – – – (26) (26)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 (783) (1,232) (109) (22,355) (24,479)

Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 16 452 – 1,852 2,320

Exchange difference – – – 496 496

At 31 December 2023 (767) (780) (109) (20,007) (21,663)

Note: The amount represents the temporary differences arising from research and development, accrued vacation and bonus in the 

subsidiaries operating in the United States.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of 

the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 

unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$344,909,000 (2022: HK$348,246,000) for which no deferred 

tax asset has been recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Such tax losses may be carried 

forward against future taxable income indefinitely.
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022

Number of 

shares Amount

Number of 

shares Amount

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 756,203 75,620 756,203 75,620

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity and borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue 

new shares or sell assets to reduce borrowings. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 

during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 

COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 406,315 406,315

Amount due from a subsidiary 399,755 399,755

806,070 806,070

Current assets

Deposits and prepayments 190 165

Amounts due from subsidiaries 140,285 141,323

Cash and cash equivalents 3,816 3,673

144,291 145,161

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals 1,433 1,604

Amounts due to subsidiaries 283,439 204,982

284,872 206,586

Net current liabilities (140,581) (61,425)

NET ASSETS 665,489 744,645

Capital and reserves

Share capital 31 75,620 75,620

Reserves 33 589,869 669,025

TOTAL EQUITY 665,489 744,645

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheng Yung Pun Ms. Yip Hiu Har

Director  Director
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 

COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Share

premium

Shareholders’

contribution

Contributed

surplus

Retained

profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 33(b)(i)) (note 33(b)(ii))

At 1 January 2022 189,090 19,689 3,661 341,972 554,412

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – 190,233 190,233

Dividend paid (note 17) – – – (75,620) (75,620)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 189,090 19,689 3,661 456,585 669,025

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (3,536) (3,536)

Dividend paid (note 17) – – – (75,620) (75,620)

At 31 December 2023 189,090 19,689 3,661 377,429 589,869

33. RESERVES

(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the Group’s consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in 

equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a price in excess of their 

par value per share. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share 

premium account of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided 

that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the 

Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents the deemed contribution arising from the forfeiture of 

a loan from ultimate holding company which was non-current and interest-free, including the 

adjustment to imputed interest for the loan.
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of 

the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 

accounting policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 

activities.

Lease

liabilities

Bank

borrowing

Dividend

payable

(included

in other

payable)

Amount

due to a

director Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

At 1 January 2022 77,565 7,911 464 8,302 94,242

Addition 2,866 – – – 2,866

Cashflows (22,986) (2,099) (75,620) (8,302) (109,007)

Interest expense 4,188 133 – – 4,321

Dividend declared – – 75,620 – 75,620

At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 61,633 5,945 464 – 68,042

Addition 1,926 – – – 1,926

Cashflows (21,607) (2,095) (75,620) – (99,322)

Interest expense 3,417 384 – – 3,801

Dividend declared – – 75,620 – 75,620

At 31 December 2023 45,369 4,234 464 – 50,067
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases comprise the following:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within operating cash flows 7,599 6,026

Within financing cash flows 21,607 22,986

These amounts relate to the following:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease rental paid 29,206 29,012

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, 

plant and equipment contracted for but not provided in 

the consolidated financial statements 780 5,010
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group was involved in a licensing dispute with a business partner (the “Licensor”). Both parties conducted 

a mediation to resolve a portion of the case and the Group has previously paid US$3,000,000 to the Licensor 

(which was recorded as royalty expenses under distribution and selling expenses). Both parties further submitted 

an open claim to a neutral auditor for resolution (“Open Claim”). The neutral auditor’s decision shall be final and 

binding. The Open Claim has a maximum amount of US$6,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the audit process resulted in finding against the Group in the amount 

of approximately US$3,400,000 (the “Neutral Auditor’s Findings”). The directors of the Company followed the 

instruction of the neutral auditor and has recognised provision at the same amount as royalty expenses for the 

year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reached a final agreement with the Licensor. According 

to the final agreement, as opposed to the Neutral Auditor’s Findings, both parties agreed to an amount of 

US$2,750,000 for settlement of all matters related to the licensing dispute. The Group settled US$2,750,000 to 

the Licensor on 27 December 2023. Differences between the final settlement and the provision was credited to 

the profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2023.

37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT

The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term lease for machinery and office equipment. As at 31 December 

2023, the portfolio of short-term lease is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease 

expenses disclosed in note 20.

The Group as lessor

The Group had contracted with lessee for subletting warehouse under non-cancellable operating lease 

arrangements. Minimum lease payments receivables on lease on lease is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,469 1,835

In the second year 294 –

Total 3,763 1,835
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38. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group had entered into the following transactions and balances with its related parties during the 

year.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors which also are key management during the year was as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 12,311 12,399

Post-employment benefits 190 183

12,501 12,582

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 

the performance of individuals and market trends.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, included in other income, there was horse racing prize money 

of approximately AUD2,876,000 (note 9) earned by a Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary representing 

consideration for management, day-to-day and training service provided by the Group to certain horses owned 

by a related company. The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cheng Yung Pun, is also the 

director of this related company.
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Revenue 1,316,101 901,141 1,082,637 986,094 714,486

Profit/(loss) before income tax 147,323 8,932 70,916 18,719 (98,628)

Income tax expenses (7,828) (941) (16,279) (16,888) (4,312)

Profit/(loss) for the year 139,495 7,991 54,637 1,831 (102,940)

Attributable to:

The owners of the Company 143,001 10,588 55,092 6,228 (102,604)

Non-controlling interests (3,506) (2,597) (455) (4,397) (336)

139,495 7,991 54,637 1,831 (102,940)

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic 0.189 0.014 0.073 0.008 (0.136)

Diluted 0.189 0.014 0.073 0.008 (0.136)

As at 31 December

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 1,432,923 1,374,342 1,416,142 1,263,221 1,031,356

Total liabilities (291,103) (258,702) (288,974) (227,456) (180,126)

1,141,820 1,115,640 1,127,168 1,035,765 851,230

Equity attributable to the 

owners of the Company 1,144,966 1,121,383 1,133,366 1,047,414 863,734

Non-controlling interests (3,146) (5,743) (6,198) (11,649) (12,504)

1,141,820 1,115,640 1,127,168 1,035,765 851,230

This annual report is published in both English and Chinese, should any conflict regarding meaning arises, the English 

version shall prevail.
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